

UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE SERGIPE PRÓ-REITORIA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO E PESQUISA

CICLOS ISOTÓPICOS E TAXA DE CRESCIMENTO EM Mussismilia hispida (VERRILL, 1902): UM REGISTRO PARA O ATLÂNTICO SUL

Isabel Cristina Bezerra Sandes Silva

Orientador: Dr. Alexandre Liparini Campos Coorientador: Dr. Natan Silva Pereira

DISSERTAÇÃO DE MESTRADO

Programa de Pós-Graduação em Geociências e Análise de Bacias

São Cristóvão-SE 2019

Isabel Cristina Bezerra Sandes Silva

CICLOS ISOTÓPICOS E TAXA DE CRESCIMENTO EM Mussismilia hispida (VERRILL, 1902): UM REGISTRO PARA O ATLÂNTICO SUL

Dissertação apresentada ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Geociências e Análise de Bacias da Universidade Federal de Sergipe, como requisito para obtenção do título de Mestre em Geociências.

Orientador: Dr. Alexandre Liparini Campos **Coorientador:** Dr. Natan Silva Pereira

> São Cristóvão–SE 2019

FICHA CATALOGRÁFICA ELABORADA PELA BIBLIOTECA CENTRAL UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE SERGIPE

Silva, Isabel Cristina Bezerra Sandes

 Ciclos isotópicos e taxa de crescimento em *Mussismilia hispida* (Verrill, 1902) : um registro para o Atlântico Sul / Isabel Cristina Bezerra Sandes Silva ; orientador Alexandre Liparini Campos. – São Cristóvão, SE, 2019.
 64 f. : il.

 Dissertação (mestrado em Geociências e Análise de Bacias) – Universidade Federal de Sergipe, 2019.
 1. Geociências. 2. Geoquímica isotópica. 3. Paleoclimatologia.
 4. Corais. 5. Biologia dos recifes de coral. 6. Rocas, Atol das (Brasil). 1. Campos, Alexandre Liparini, orient. II. Título.

CICLOS ISOTÓPICOS E TAXA DE CRESCIMENTO EM Mussismilia hispida (VERRIL, 1902): UM REGISTRO PARA O ATLÂNTICO SUL

por:

Isabel Cristina Bezerra Sandes Silva (Bióloga, Universidade Estadual da Bahia – 2016)

DISSERTAÇÃO DE MESTRADO

Submetida em satisfação parcial dos requisitos ao grau de:

MESTRE EM GEOCIÊNCIAS

BANCA EXAMINADORA:

Dr. Alexandre Liparini Campos [Orientador – UFS] Aldart Adart Dr. Adauto de Souza Ribeiro [Membro Externo - UFS] - Dra. Bárbara Ramos Pinheiro [Membro Externo – UFBA]

Data Defesa: 28/02/2019

AGRADECIMENTOS

Primeiramente agradeço a DEUS, por tudo que tenho e sou, por todas as graças que Ele tem me concedido. Agradeço a Nossa Senhora das Graças, por sempre cuidar de mim e me proteger embaixo do seu manto.

Gostaria de agradecer aos meus pais, José Marques e Helena Bezerra, por toda confiança e força que sempre me deram, por serem minha âncora, meu porto seguro, por todo amor compartilhado. Agradeço também aos meus irmãos, Detson e David, e meu sobrinho, Pedro Ryan, por todo carinho e companheirismo. Aos meus Padrinhos Fabiana e Caetano, por todo apoio e incentivo.

Agradeço ao meu orientador Alexandre Liparini, por ter me aceitado como orientanda, por toda paciência, dedicação e amizade, mesmo tendo "caído de paraquedas" em seu caminho.

Agradeço ao meu coorientador, Natan Pereira, por toda amizade e paciência, por ter me acompanhado e orientado desde a graduação, e por ter me apresentado a esta área de conhecimento sobre isótopos em corais.

Agradeço à Brenda Lorena, por estar sempre presente em minha vida, tanto pessoal quanto acadêmica, por toda a dedicação, por sempre me ajudar e por ser uma amiga para todas as horas.

Agradeço ao meu namorado, Ícaro Tayslan, por todo amor, carinho e compreensão, por me apoiar em todas as minhas escolhas, por sempre me ajudar a enfrentar os obstáculos que a vida propõe e me dar forças para seguir em frente.

Gostaria de agradecer a Thaynah, Loraine, Luzeny, João Gabriel, Dêverton, Thallys, André, Camilo e Dany pela amizade e por sempre me confortar e dizer que sou capaz de realizar meus sonhos. Agradeço ao Deyvison por ter me incentivado a dar mais esse passo e por toda a amizade.

Agradeço a Fran e Tati, duas pessoas especiais que me acolheram e juntas passamos por todas as etapas, uma incentivando a outra, sou grata à amizade de vocês. Agradeço também a Elisa, Will e Érika, Laísa e João pelas conversas e troca de saberes.

Agradeço à equipe Módulo Saber, por todos os momentos, mistos de conversas e conhecimentos, em especial a Suzy e Marcos pela compreensão e apoio.

Agradeço a coordenação do PGAB, pela oportunidade em desenvolver esta pesquisa e aos docentes por todo aprendizado.

RESUMO

Esqueleto de corais escleractínios incorporam dados geoquímicos capazes de registrar com precisão mudanças ambientais, possibilitando a reconstrução climática da história dos oceanos tropicais, auxiliando na compreensão das atuais mudanças climáticas globais. Essas assinaturas geoquímicas (e.g. isótopos de carbono (δ^{13} C) e oxigênio $(\delta^{18}O)$ podem revelar informações sobre a temperatura da superfície do mar (TSM), salinidade, cobertura de nuvem, entre outras. O Atlântico Sul Tropical ainda possui uma carência de estudos paleoclimáticos utilizando arquivos com base em corais. Esta pesquisa objetiva estimar a taxa de crescimento e investigar as alterações dos δ^{13} C e δ^{18} O incorporados no esqueleto do coral *Mussismilia hispida* durante seu crescimento, na região do Atol das Rocas, além de verificar o potencial de uso desses dados como proxy no estudo de variações ambientais. Para tanto, foram utilizadas três colônias de M. hispida (MH1, MH2 e MH3), nas quais foram feitas amostragens a cada 5 mm com uma microfuradeira de dentista, o carbonato retirado foi armazenado e analisado no Laboratório de Isótopos Estáveis da Universidade Federal de Pernambuco por espectrometria de massa determinando os valores do δ^{13} C e δ^{18} O. As médias obtidas para o δ^{13} C foram (0,91‰, 0,40‰ e 0,57‰) e δ^{18} O (-3,29‰, 4,09‰ e -4,27‰), para as colônias 13MH1, 13MH2 e 13MH3 respectivamente. Além disso, foram estimadas a taxas de crescimento médio (mm/ciclo) e o número de ciclos para: 13MH1 2.83 ±0.51; 13MH2 3.21±0.86; and 13MH3 3.71±0.82. Do ponto de vista para utilização de corais como arquivo climático a espécie possui uma taxa de crescimento suficiente para a obtenção de informações de alta resolução. A fim de consolidar essa espécie como um arquivo natural confiável é necessário expandir as investigações aqui realizadas para outras regiões do nordeste brasileiro.

Palavras-chave: Taxa de Extensão; Geoquímica Isotópica; Corais Hermatípicos.

ABSTRACT

Skeleton of scleratinian corals incorporates geochemical data capable of accurately recording environmental changes, enabling climatic reconstruction of the tropical oceans history, aiding in understanding current global climate change. Such geochemical signatures (e.g. carbon isotope (δ^{13} C) and oxygen (δ^{18} O) can reveal information about the sea surface temperature (SST), salinity, cloud cover, among others. The Tropical South Atlantic, still has a lack of paleoclimatic studies using files based on corals. This research aims to estimate the growth rate and to investigate the changes of the δ^{13} C and δ^{18} O incorporated in the coral skeleton *Mussismilia hispida* during its growth, in the Atol das Rocas region, besides verifying the potential of using this data as a proxy in environmental variations studies. For this, three M. hispida colonies (MH1, MH2 and MH3) were used, in which samples were taken every 5mm with a dental drill, the extracted carbonate was stored and analyzed in the Stable Isotopes Laboratory of the Federal University of Pernambuco by mass spectrometry determining the values of δ^{13} C and δ^{18} O. The averages obtained for δ^{13} C were (0.91‰, 0.40% and 0.57%) and δ^{18} O (-3.29%, -4.09% and -4.27%), for colonies 13MH1, 13MH2 and 13MH3 respectively. Furthermore, the average growth rates (mm/cycle) and the number of cycles were estimated for: $13MH1 \ 2.83 \ \pm 0.51$; $13MH2 \ 3.21 \pm 0.86$; and 13MH3 3.71±0.82. From the point of view of the use of coral as a climatic file, the species has a sufficient growth rate to obtain high resolution information. In order to consolidate this species as a reliable natural file it is necessary to expand the investigations carried out here for other regions of the Brazilian Northeast.

Keywords: Extension Rate; Isotopic Geochemistry; Hermatypics Corals

SUMÁRIO

CAPITULO I - INTRODUÇÃO	11
Objetivos	13
Área de estudo	13
Métodos de trabalho	
Coleta de colônias de corais	15
Corte das colônias e raio-X	15
Amostragem para análise isotópica	16
Análises geoquímicas de δ^{18} O e δ^{13} C	17
Datação Urânio-Tório U/Th	
Taxa de Crescimento	
Bibliografia	19
CAPITULO II - ARTIGO SUBMETIDO À REVISTA JOUR	RNAL OF SOUTH
AMERICAN EARTH SCIENCES	
Assessing the growth rate of the South Atlantic coral species (VERRILL, 1902) using carbon and oxygen stable isotopes	Mussismilia hispida 23
Abstract	23
INTRODUCTION	24
STUDY AREA	27
METHODOLOGY	
Colony collections	
Sampling for isotopic analyses	
Isotopic analyses of Carbon and Oxygen	
Uranium-thorium (U/Th) dating	
Growth rate	
RESULTS	
Stable isotopes	
U-Th Dating	

DISCUSSION
Growth rate
Seasonal isotopic variability and environmental records
CONCLUSION
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
REFERENCES
CAPÍTULO III – CONCLUSÃO44
ANEXO I
Normas de submissão da revista Journal of South American Earth Sciences45
ANEXO II
Comprovante de submissão do artigo58
Comprovante de submissão do artigo58 ANEXO III
Comprovante de submissão do artigo
Comprovante de submissão do artigo

LISTA DE FIGURAS

Figura 1: Localização e mapa geomorfológico do Atol das Rocas. Fonte: Pereira et al.,
201714
Figura 2: Imagem digital das lâminas das colônias de <i>M. hispida</i> , a MH1; b MH2; c MH316
Figura 3: a Extração de carbonato (linha rosa) para análise isotópica por meio de micro furadeira de dentista; colônias amostradas b-MH1, c-MH2 e d-MH317
Figura 4: Radiografia da colônia MH1 com identificação do local da amostragem para
análise isotópica em rosa e em verde o local de amostragem para análise de Urânio-
Tório em dois pontos MHA (ápice) e MHB (base)18
Figure 1 –Geomorphological map of the Rocas Atoll. The red star indicates the location
on a flat reef where M. hispida colonies were studied and collected. Adapted from
Pereira et al., 2017

Figure 3 -Temporal series of δ^{18} O and δ^{13} C values obtained from sections of colonies 13MH11, 13MH-2, and 13MH-3 (the δ^{18} O axis is presented inverted)......32

LISTA DE TABELAS

Table 1 - Results of the U-Th dating technique using samples removed along the growth
axis of the exoskeleton of <i>M. híspida</i>
Table 2. a Growth rate and calendar years, calculated from October/2013. b Mean
growth rate, estimated based on U-series ages for the total coral record
Table 3 – Growth rates evaluated according to cycle extensions (mm) for coral colonies
13MH-1, 13MH-2 and 13MH-3. Values from the first and last cycles were not
included
Table 4. Fourier transformation analyses of the $\delta^{18}O$ and $\delta^{13}C$ records of colonies
13MH-1, 13MH-2 and 13MH-337

CAPÍTULO I – INTRODUÇÃO

A reconstrução da história dos oceanos tropicais é fundamental para entender a mudança climática global passada e fornecer dados para projeção de prováveis cenários futuros (Cohen et al., 2002; Gagan et al., 2012). A região do oceano Atlântico Sul, ainda é bastante limitada de informações paleoceanográfica baseado em instrumentos, logo, se torna necessário a utilização de arquivos naturais como anéis de árvores, testemunhos de gelo, espeleotemas, colônias de corais, dentre outros, que já se apresentam como ótimas ferramentas.

Os corais escleractínios pertencentes ao filo Cnidaria, classe Anthozoa e são organismos hipercalcificadores, capazes de produzir grande quantidade de carbonato de cálcio (CaCO₃) para formar seu esqueleto de aragonita. Este grupo de corais vem sendo utilizado frequentemente para estudos climáticos após a descoberta realizada por Knutson et al. (1972), de que os mesmos apresentam um padrão de crescimento em forma de bandamentos. Por meio de radiografia é visível a formação de bandas claras e escuras de forma alternada e regular, resultando em variações cíclicas de densidade do material esquelético depositado. A descoberta da formação desses bandamentos serem quase sempre anuais, possibilitou contar os bandamentos, datar e correlacionar com fatores ambientais, tornando os corais importantes calendários e fonte de informações do ambiente no qual se desenvolvem.

Registros com base em isótopos estáveis incorporados ao esqueleto dos corais tem se mostrado uma técnica promissora para estudos climáticos. Através desse método podem ser reconstruídas muitas variáveis ambientais como a cobertura de nuvens, temperatura da superfície do mar (TSM), zonas de ressurgência e salinidade (Fairbanks et al., 1997; Grottoli, 2001). Além disso, estimativas de taxas de crescimento anual de uma colônia de coral, podem ser realizadas medindo-se os comprimentos dos ciclos isotópicos (Grottoli, 2001; Pereira et al., 2018).

Isótopos estáveis de carbono (δ^{13} C) no esqueleto de coral, majoritariamente, mantém uma relação direta com a atividade fotossintética das zooxantelas dos corais, logo, depende dos níveis de luz ambiente, relacionada à profundidade e insolação (Weber & Woodhead, 1970; Fairbanks et al., 1979; McConnaughey, 1989). Os valores de δ^{13} C incorporados aos corais irão aumentar de acordo com a atividade fotossintética (zooxantelas) presente nos corais (Swart, 1983). Deste modo, acredita-se que a mudança na taxa fotossintética ao longo do ano, pode ser responsável por uma mudança cíclica de δ^{13} C no esqueleto (Swart et al., 1996). δ^{13} C vem ganhando credibilidade como um indicador de variação sazonal na cobertura de nuvens (Swart, 1983; Fallick et al., 1996).

Os isótopos de oxigênio vêm sendo utilizado para reconstruções climáticas durante décadas (Dunbar et al., 1994; Gagan et al., 1994; Wei et al., 2000; Moses & Swart, 2006; Chen et al., 2013). A partir da análise do δ^{18} O presente no esqueleto de corais escleractínios, é possível estimar a TSM na qual uma determinada colônia viveu, e consequentemente saber se os corais experimentaram condições climáticas anômalas (Mayal et al., 2009). O valor de δ^{18} O da água do mar e do esqueleto dos corais também diminui ao passo que a salinidade diminui, devido a precipitação, que é empobrecida em δ^{18} O (Cole and Fairbanks, 1990; Grottoli, 2001).

As limitadas informações paleoceanográficas proveniente de corais no oceano Atlântico Sul, chamam a atenção para a necessidade de estudos com esse escopo, uma vez, que em outras regiões já está comprovado a importante fonte de informação que são os corais (Moses and Swart, 2006; Pandolfi, 2011; Swart and Grottoli, 2003; Weber and Woodhead, 1972). Além disso, a espécie *Mussismilia hispida*, objeto dessa pesquisa, integra o grupo das espécies importantes na construção dos recifes da costa brasileira. Dessa forma, utilizar o conteúdo geoquímico de espécies que são endêmicas e importantes para a região, pode se tornar uma ferramenta promissora para se reconstruir e compreender as mudanças oceanográficas do Atlântico Sul.

O interesse em estudar corais, mais precisamente seu conteúdo isotópico, advém dos resultados promissores obtidos na graduação, na possibilidade de gerar dados confiáveis para o oceano Atlântico Sul e contribuir com o conhecimento acerca das condições ambientais que influenciam no desenvolvimento das espécies de corais da costa brasileira.

O artigo gerado a partir de todos os dados analisados foi submetido à revista Journal of South American Earth Sciences Intitulado "Assessing the growth rate of the South Atlantic coral species *Mussismilia hispida* (VERRILL, 1902) using carbon and oxygen stable isotopes ".

Este trabalho foi executado no Programa de Pós-Graduação em Geociências e Análises de Bacias (PGAB) da Universidade Federal de Sergipe (UFS), com apoio do Laboratório de Pesquisas Integrativas em Biodiversidade (PIBi) da UFS, da Fundação de Apoio à Pesquisa e à Inovação Tecnológica do Estado de Sergipe (FAPITEC-SE) e a Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES), com apoio do Laboratório de Estudos em Sedimentologia e Paleoclimatologia (NESP) da Universidade do Estado da Bahia (UNEB), Núcleo de Estudos Geoquímicos e Laboratório de Isótopos Estáveis (NEG-LABISE) da Universidade Federal de Pernambuco (UFPE) e Laboratório de Espectrometria de Massa e Mudanças Ambientais (HISPEC) da Universidade Nacional de Taiwan.

Objetivos

Este trabalho tem como objetivo estimar a taxa de crescimento e investigar as alterações dos δ^{13} C e δ^{18} O incorporados no esqueleto de três colônias do coral *Mussismilia hispida* durante seu crescimento, na região do Atol das Rocas, além de verificar o potencial de uso desses dados como *proxy* no estudo de variações ambientais. Como objetivos específicos:

- 1. Analisar o δ^{18} O e δ^{13} C das amostragens obtidas do exoesqueleto das colônias de *M. hispida;*
- Determinar a idade de uma das colônias e em que ano iniciou seu desenvolvimento;
- 3. Averiguar o potencial das espécies de *M. hispida* para estudos climáticos históricos.

Área de Estudo

O Atol das Rocas (3°51'S, 33°49'W) está localizado a 266 km a nordeste da cidade de Natal-RN e 150 km a oeste do arquipélago de Fernando de Noronha (Figura 1). Se tratando de oscilações climáticas, Atol das Rocas vem se mostrando um local apropriado para tais investigações, uma vez que este não sofre influência humana e nem continental (Pereira et al., 2015).



Figura 1 – Localização e mapa geomorfológico do Atol das Rocas. Fonte: Pereira et al., 2017.

Rocas apresenta uma forma elipsoide e está situado sobre um monte submarino com um topo achatado no Oceano Atlântico (*guyot*) (Kikuchi and Leão, 1997; Pereira et al., 2013). Tendo uma área de aproximadamente 6,56 km², com um perímetro de 11 km é considerado o menor atol do mundo comparado a outros, como o Atol Rangiroa, no arquipélago de Tuamotu, na Polinésia Francesa com 72x36 km² (Pereira et al., 2013).

Aspectos geomorfológicos do Atol das Rocas abrange uma frente recifal em duas formas diferentes: a barlavento até profundidade de 10 m, colonizado por algas sem esqueleto e coralinas, esponjas e corais e sotavento onde se cresce o contraforte recifal (pontões e reentrâncias) desde a borda até profundidades de ~18 m. O recife é formado principalmente por algas coralinas incrustantes e gastrópodes vermetídeos. O platô recifal é uma superfície plana, limitado pela borda externa, envolvendo o anel recifal que é descontínuo por dois canais (Barreta Grande e Barretinha). Além disso, há piscinas no platô recifal de 3 m de profundidades que são preenchidas por sedimentos arenosos. Em relação à sedimentologia, nas ilhas o sedimento é cascalho arenoso (superior a 60%) e na laguna é areia (cerca de 80%), os sedimentos são classificados como areias calcárias biogênicas, constituídas por algas coralinas e foraminíferos (Kikuchi, 2002).

Rocas é caracterizado por um clima tropical oceânico, tendo uma temperatura média de 26°C, e uma variabilidade interanual de 24°C a 30°C para os últimos 30 anos, apresentando chuvas de março a julho; período mais quente em agosto, e outubro o mais

seco (Kikuchi and Leão, 1997). A temperatura da água possui variação sazonal com mínimo e máximo em setembro (26°C) e maio (28,3 °C), tendo uma média de 27°C. Se tratando da salinidade há uma variação de 36 psu a 37 psu (Hoflich, 1984).

Os organismos construtores do Atol das Rocas são as algas coralinas e macroalgas, gastrópodes vermetídeos, foraminíferos e espécies de corais: *Siderastrea stellata, Favia gravida, Mussismilia hispida, Agaricia* sp., *Montastrea cavernosa, Madracis decactis* e *Porites* sp. (Kikuchi, 2002).

Métodos de trabalho

Coleta de colônias de corais

As colônias utilizadas foram coletadas mortas na região do platô recifal na porção Sul do Atol das Rocas em julho de 2013. Cada colônia recebeu um código de referência (13MH1, 13MH2 e 13MH3) e foram colocadas em sacos plásticos individuais para transporte. O material foi armazenado no Laboratório de Isótopos Estáveis (LABISE) do Departamento de Geologia da Universidade Federal de Pernambuco - UFPE.

Corte das colônias e raio-X

As colônias foram cortadas em lâminas de 0,5 cm de espessura, por meio de uma serra de mesa lubrificada com água. Logo após, as lâminas foram encaminhadas e armazenadas no Laboratório de Geologia e Sedimentologia – LAGES da Universidade do Estado da Bahia - *Campus VIII*, para em seguida serem radiografadas. As radiografias das lâminas foram realizadas no Hospital Público Nair Alves de Souza, da cidade de Paulo Afonso-BA seguindo as seguintes configurações: aceleração de voltagem de 50 KV e amperagem de 320 mA, com tempo de exposição de 3,2 segundos e distância entre o equipamento e a lâmina do coral de 108 cm. As imagens digitais obtidas (Figura 2) foram utilizadas para a escolha de um melhor local para realizar as amostragens.



Figura 2. Imagem digital das lâminas das colônias de M. hispida, a 13MH1; b 13MH2; c 13MH3.

Amostragem para análise isotópica

As amostras foram extraídas ao longo do eixo de crescimento de cada lâmina dos corais (Figura 3. b - d) por meio de uma micro furadeira de dentista (Figura 3.a) com distanciamentos de 0,5 mm. Sendo, a amostragem da lâmina de 13MH1 realizada no Laboratório de Geologia e Sedimentologia – LAGES da Universidade do Estado da Bahia - *Campus VIII*. Já as lâminas de 13MH2 e 13MH3 foram realizadas no Instituto de Geociências – IGEO da Universidade Federal da Bahia, por meio de perfurações superficiais. Essas amostras foram todas encaminhadas para análise no LABISE – UFPE.



Figura 3. a Extração de carbonato (linha rosa) para análise isotópica por meio de micro furadeira de dentista; colônias amostradas b-13MH1, c-13MH2 e d-13MH3.

Análises geoquímicas de δ^{18} O e δ^{13} C

Análises de δ^{18} O e δ^{13} C foram determinadas utilizando espectrômetro de massa Delta V Advantage com GasBench II acoplado do LABISE da UFPE. Para isso foram necessários cerca de 0,6 - 0,7 mg de carbonato que foram transferidos para frascos de vidro de borossilicato de 10 ml e selados com tampas com septos de borracha. Em cada rodada de análise foram processadas 72 amostras usando uma unidade de multifluxo dos quais 16 frascos contêm 4 réplicas de 4 padrões de referências, 2 internacionais (NBS-18 e NBS-19) e dois internos (REI e VICKS) para calibração.

Inicialmente, os frascos passaram por um *flush* de Hélio, que consiste em um jato de gás He por 240 segundos para remoção de gás atmosférico, especialmente CO_2 e H₂O. O gás é inserido por uma agulha introduzida através do septo de borracha na qual a mistura de gases será continuamente removida por um canal de escape aberto na agulha introduzida.

Após o *flush* de He, 90 mg (equivalente a ~50 μ l) de ácido ortofosfórico anidro H₃PO₄ foram adicionados automaticamente em cada amostra para liberar o CO₂ do carbonato, através de uma agulha de aço movida por um braço robótico Comb Pal.

Depois da adição de H_3PO_4 , as amostras reagiram por 90 minutos antes de serem analisadas. A mistura de He-CO₂ de cada amostra foi então transferida em um processo automático e mensurados contra uma mistura de gás de referência de He-CO₂. Os dados isotópicos de C e O (Apêndice A) foram expressos no padrão internacional VPDB (*Vienna Peedee Belemnite*).

Datação Urânio-Tório U/Th

A idade do coral fóssil *M. hispida* foi determinada por espectrometria de massa de ionização térmica U/Th realizado no HISPEC (*High-precision Mass Spectrometry and Environmental Change Laboratory*) do departamento de Geociências da Universidade Nacional de Taiwan (NTU), para isso foi retirada 2 amostras (2 gramas cada) em dois pontos denominadas de MHA (ápice) e MHB (base) (Figura 4) ao longo do eixo de crescimento da lâmina do coral 13MH1.



Figura 4 – Radiografia da colônia MH1 com identificação do local da amostragem para análise isotópica em rosa e em verde o local de amostragem para análise de Urânio-Tório em dois pontos MHA (ápice) e MHB (base).

Taxa de Crescimento

A taxa de crescimento foi determinada medindo a extensão (mm) entre os picos dos ciclos isotópicos de δ^{13} C ou a distância entre as cavas dos ciclos de δ^{18} O, uma vez que esses ciclos são interpretados como anuais. A média do comprimento dos ciclos de cada colônia foi utilizada para determinar a taxa de crescimento anual média das

colônias de corais, na qual, o primeiro e último ciclos de cada colônia foram excluídos devido a dubiedade se representariam ciclos completos ou não.

A colônia 13MH-1 também teve a taxa de crescimento estimada por meio da Datação U/Th, no qual a diferença entre as idades (ano) determinadas entre os dois pontos foi dividida pela distância (mm) entre os dois pontos de amostragem (Pereira et al., 2018).

Bibliografia

- Allison, N., Tudhope, A.W., Fallick, A.E., 1996. Factors influencing the stable carbon and oxygen isotopic composition of Porites lutea coral skeletons from Phuket, South Thailand 43–57.
- BARNES, D.J., 1973. Growth in colonial scleractinians.
- Barnes, D.J., Lough, J.M., 1993. On the nature and causes of density banding in massive coral skeletons 167, 91–108.
- Chen, T., Yu, K., Chen, T., 2013. Sr / Ca sea surface temperature calibration in the coral Porites lutea from subtropical northern South China Sea. Palaeogeogr. Palaeoclimatol. Palaeoecol. 392, 98–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2013.09.004
- Cohen, A.L., Owens, K.E., Layne, G.D., Shimizu, N., 2002. The Effect of Algal Symbionts on the Accuracy of Sr / Ca Paleotemperatures from Coral 296, 331–333. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1069330
- Cole, J.E., Fairbanks, R.G., 1990. Canton Galpagos 5, 669–683.
- Cole, J.E., Fairbanks, R.G., Shen, G.T., 1993. Recent variability in the southern oscillation: Isotopic results from a Tarawa Atoll coral. Science (80-.). 260, 1790–1793. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.260.5115.1790
- Dunbar, B., Wellington, M., Colgan, W., 1994. Eastern Pacific sea surface temperature since 1600 A . D .' The record of climate variability in Gahipagos corals we interpret 9, 291–315.
- Eakin, C.M., Grottoli, A., 2006. Chapter 2 . Coral Reef Records of Past Climatic Change 33–54.
- Evangelista, H., Godiva, D., Sifeddine, A., Leão, Z.M.A.N., Rigozo, N.R., Segal, B., Ambrizzi, T., Kampel, M., Kikuchi, R.K.P., Cornec, F. Le, 2007. Evidences linking ENSO and coral growth in the Southwestern-South Atlantic. Clim. Dyn. 29, 869–880. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-007-0271-8
- Fairbanks, R.G., Evans, M.N., Rubenstone, J.L., Mortlock, R.A., Broad, K., Moore, M.D., Charles, C.D., 1997. Evaluating climate indices and their geochemical proxies measured in corals 93–100.
- Fairbanks, R.G., Sciences, O., Drive, N.O., An, S., 1979. Annual periodicity of the '* O / 16O and 13C / 12C ratios in the coral Montastrea annularis * 43.
- Gagan, M.K., Chivas, A.R., Isdale, P.J., 1994. High-resolution isotopic records from corals using ocean temperature and mass-spawning chronometers 121, 549–558.
- Gagan, M.K., Dunbar, G.B., Suzuki, A., 2012. The effect of skeletal mass accumulation in Porites on coral Sr / Ca and d 18 O paleothermometry 27, 1–16.

https://doi.org/10.1029/2011PA002215

- Geologia, C.D.E.P.E.M., Cristina, M., Santedicola, R., 1868. UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DA BAHIA INSTITUTO DE GEOCIÊNCIAS DISSERTAÇÃO DE MESTRADO Submetida para satisfação parcial dos requisitos ao grau de MESTRE EM CIÊNCIAS GEOLOGIA à Câmara de Ensino de Pós-Graduação e Pesquisa da Universidade Federal da Bahia.
- Glynn, P.W., Veron, J.E.N., Wellington, G.M., 1996. Clipperton Atoll (eastern Pacific):
 Oceanography, geomorphology, reef-building coral ecology and biogeography. Coral
 Reefs 15, 71–99. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01771897
- Grottoli, A., 2001. Past climate from corals 2098–2107. https://doi.org/10.1006/rwos.2001.0270
- Hoflich, O., 1984. Climate of the South Atlantic Ocean, in: Van Loon, H. (Ed.), Climates of the Oceans. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 1–192.
- KEITH, M.L., WEBER, J.N., 1965. Systematic Relationships between Carbon and Oxygen Isotopes in Carbonates Deposited by Modern Corals and Algae 150, 498–501.
- Kikuchi, R.K.P., 2002. Atol das Rocas, Litoral do Nordeste do Brasil Único atol do Atlântico Sul Equatorial Ocidental. Sítios Geológicos e Paleontológicos do Bras. 1, 379–393. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1676-06032008000300013
- Kikuchi, R.K.P., Leão, Z.M.A.N., 1997. ROCAS (SOUTHWESTERN EQUATORIAL ATLANTIC, BRAZIL): AN ATOLL BUILT BY CORALLINE ALGAE. Coral Reef 1, 731–736.
- Kikuchi, R.K.P., Oliveira, M.D.M., Leão, Z.M.A.N., 2013. Density banding pattern of the south western Atlantic coral Mussismilia braziliensis. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 449, 207–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2013.09.019
- KNUTSON, D.W., BUDDEMEIER, R.W., SMITH, S. V., 1972. Coral Chronometers : Seasonal Growth Bands in Reef Corals 177, 270–272.
- Leão, Z.M.A.N., Kikuchi, R.K.P., Ferreira, B.P., Neves, E.G., Sovierzoski, H.H., Oliveira, M.D.M., Maida, M., Correia, M.D., Johnsson, R., 2016. Brazilian coral reefs in a period of global change: A synthesis. Brazilian J. Oceanogr. 64, 97–116. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1679-875920160916064sp2
- Leão, Z.M.A.N., Kikuchi, R.K.P., Testa, V., 2003. Corals and coral reefs of Brazil, Latin American Coral Reefs. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-044451388-5/50003-5
- Leder, J.J., Swart, L.P.K., Szmant, I.A.M., Dodge, R.E., 1996. The origin of variations in the isotopic record of scleractinian corals : I . Oxygen 60, 2857–2870.
- Linsley, B.K., Rosenthal, Y., Oppo, D.W., 2010. Holocene evolution of the Indonesian throughflow and the western Pacific warm pool. Nat. Geosci. 3, 578–583. https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo920
- Lough, J.M., Barnes, D.J., 2000. Environmental control on the massive coral Porites. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 245, 225–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-0981(99)00168-9
- Lough, J.M., Barnes, D.J., 1997. Several centuries of variation in skeletal extension, density and calcification in massive Porites colonies from the Great Barrier Reef: A proxy for seawater temperature and a background of variability against which to identify unnatural change. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 211, 29–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-0981(96)02710-4
- Mayal, E.M., Sial, A.N., Ferreira, V.P., Fisner, M., Pinheiro, B.R., 2009. Thermal stress

assessment using carbon and oxygen isotopes from Scleractinia , Rocas Atoll , northeastern Brazil 51, 166–188. https://doi.org/10.1080/00206810802673834

- McConnaughey, T., 1989. 13C and 180 isotopic disequilibrium in biological carbonates : I . Patterns 53, 151–162.
- Moses, C.S., Swart, P.K., 2006. Stable isotope and growth records in corals from the island of Tobago : Not simply a record of the Orinoco 587, 580–587.
- Pandolfi, J.M., 2011. Coral reefs: An ecosystem in transition. Coral Reefs An Ecosyst. Transit. 1– 552. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-0114-4
- Pereira, N.S., Manso, V.A.V., Macedo, R.J.A., Dias, J.M.A., Silva, A.M.C., 2013. Detrital carbonate sedimentation of the Rocas Atoll, South Atlantic. An. Acad. Bras. Cienc. 85, 52– 72. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0001-37652013000100005
- Pereira, N.S., Sial, A.N., Frei, R., Ullmann, C. V., Korte, C., Kikuchi, R.K.P., Ferreira, V.P., Kilbourne, K.H., 2017. The potential of the coral species Porites astreoides as a paleoclimate archive for the Tropical South Atlantic Ocean. J. South Am. Earth Sci. 77, 276–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsames.2017.05.008
- Pereira, N.S., Sial, A.N., Kikuchi, R.K.P., Ferreira, V.Z.P., Ullmann, C. V., Frei, R., Cunha, A.M.C., 2015. Coral-based climate records from tropical South Atlantic: 2009/2010 ENSO event in C and O isotopes from Porites corals (Rocas Atoll, Brazil). An. Acad. Bras. Cienc. 87, 1939– 1957. https://doi.org/10.1590/0001-3765201520150072
- Pereira, N.S., Sial, A.N., Kilbourne, K.H., Liu, S.C., Shen, C.C., Ullmann, C. V., Frei, R., Korte, C., Kikuchi, R.K.P., Ferreira, V.P., Braga, B.L.S.S., 2018. Carbon stable isotope record in the coral species Siderastrea stellata: A link to the Suess Effect in the tropical South Atlantic Ocean. Palaeogeogr. Palaeoclimatol. Palaeoecol. 497, 82–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2018.02.007
- Reynaud-vaganay, S.Y., Juillet-leclerc, A., Jaubert, J., Gattuso, J., 2001. E j ect of light on skeletal N 13 C and N 18 O, and interaction with photosynthesis, respiration and calci ¢ cation in two zooxanthellate scleractinian corals 175, 393–404.
- Rodrigues, G.B., Fauth, G., 2013. Isótopos estáveis de carbono e oxigênio em ostracodes do Cretáceo: metodologias, aplicações e desafios. Terrae Didat. 9, 34–49.
- Rogers, C.S., 1979. The effect of shading on coral reef structure and function. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 41, 269–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0981(79)90136-9
- Soppa, M.A., Souza, R.B. de, Pezzi, L.P., 2011. Variabilidade das anomalias de temperatura da superfície do mar no oceano atlântico sudoeste e sua relação com o fenomeno El Niño-Oscilação Sul. Rev. Bras. Meteorol. 26, 375–391. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0102-77862011000300005
- Sun, D., Su, R., Mcconnaughey, T.A., Bloemendal, J., 2008. Variability of skeletal growth and δ 13 C in massive corals from the South China Sea : Effects of photosynthesis , respiration and human activities 255, 414–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemgeo.2008.07.012
- Swart, P.K., 1983. Carbon and Oxygen Isotope Fractionation in ScleracUnian Corals : a Review 19.
- Swart, P.K., Grottoli, A., 2003. Proxy indicators of climate in coral skeletons: A perspective. Coral Reefs 22, 313–315. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00338-003-0332-3
- SWART, P.K., LEDER, J.J., SZMANT, A.M., DODGE, R.E., 1996. The origin of variations in the

isotopic record of skeractinian corals : II . Carbon 60, 2871–2885.

- Taylor, R.B., Barnes, D.J., Lough, J.M., 1993. Simple models of density band formation in massive corals. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 167, 109–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0981(93)90187-S
- Weber, J.O.N.N., Woodhead, P.M.J., 1970. CARBON AND OXYGEN ISOTOPE FRACTIONATION IN THE SKELETAL CARBONATE OF REEF-BUILDING CORALS 6, 93–117.
- Weber, J.O.N.N., WOODHEAD, P.M.J., 1972. Temperature dependence of oxygen-18 concentration in reef coral carbonates 77, 463–473.
- Wei, G., Sun, M., Li, X., Nie, B., 2000. Mg / Ca , Sr / Ca and U / Ca ratios of a porites coral from Sanya Bay , Hainan Island , South China Sea and their relationships to sea surface temperature 162, 59–74.

CAPÍTULO II– ARTIGO SUBMETIDO À REVISTA JOURNAL OF SOUTH AMERICAN EARTH SCIENCES:

Assessing the growth rate of the South Atlantic coral species *Mussismilia hispida* (VERRILL, 1902) using carbon and oxygen stable isotopes

I.C.B.S Silva^a, A Liparini^a, N.S Pereira^{b,d*}, B.L.S.S Braga^c, A.N, Sial^d, S.-C. Liu^e, C.-C. Shen^{e,f}, R.K.P. Kikuchi^c

^a Laboratório de Pesquisas Integrativas em Biodiversidade (PIBi-Lab), *Programa de Pós-Graduação em Geociências e Análise de Bacias (PGAB) – Universidade Federal de Sergipe, São Cristóvão, SE, 49100-*000, *Brazil*

^bNESP, Departamento de Biologia, Universidade do Estado da Bahia, Campus VIII, Paulo Afonso, 48608-240, Brazil

^cRECOR, Departamento de Oceanografia, Universidade Federal da Bahia, Salvador 40210-340, Brazil ^dNEG-LABISE, Universidade Federal de Pernambuco, C. P. 7852, Recife 50670-000, Brazil

^e High-Precision Mass Spectrometry and Environment Change Laboratory (HISPEC), Department of Geosciences, National Taiwan University, Roosevelt Rd., Taipei 10617, Taiwan, ROC ^fResearch Center for Future Earth, National Taiwan University, Roosevelt Rd., Taipei 10617, Taiwan, ROC

Abstract

Scleractinian corals grow by the precipitation of $CaCO_3$ by a thin tissue layer at the top of the colony. The exoskeleton resulted from this biomineralization process usually presented density bands, which a pair of low and high-density is interpreted as annual bands. Such information is used to determine the growth rate of a colony and estimate chronology in calendar year. Nevertheless, some corals do not present density bands, making difficult to constrain a good chronology and assess growth rate pattern, demanding another approach. Carbon and oxygen stable isotope ratios (δ^{13} C and δ^{18} O) are commonly used as proxies for cloud cover and sea surface temperature (SST), respectively. Thus, once these proxies have annual seasonality, the length and number of δ^{13} C and δ^{18} O cycles can be used to estimate growth rate and dating a coral record. Here we used δ^{13} C and δ^{18} O length cycles to estimate and report the growth rates data for three colonies of the coral Mussismilia hispida (VERRILL, 1902), an endemic species of the South Atlantic Ocean. The studied colonies, 13MH-1, 13MH-2, and 13MH-3, demonstrated mean growth rates of 2.83 ± 0.51 , 3.21 ± 0.86 and 3.71 ± 0.82 mm/year respectively. U-Th dating of two samples from colony 13MH-1 indicated absolute ages of 61.5 ± 1.1 and 72.7 ± 1.1 calendar years and a mean growth rate of 3.57±1.03 mm/year, similarly to the stable isotope results. Our results showed that the δ^{18} O and δ^{13} C records of *M. hispida* colonies at the Rocas Atoll are dominated by short

and medium-term variations. The short-term variation seems to be governed by annual seasonality (i.e., SST and solar radiation levels) and were used to determine the extension rates of the three colonies, providing know insights for the use of the species *M. hispida*, a widely distributed species in the South Atlantic, as a good high-resolution environmental record.

Keywords: Isotopic geochemistry; Hermatypic corals; Paleoclimatology.

*Corresponding author: Natan Silva Pereira e-mail: natansp_bio@hotmail.com

1. INTRODUCTION

Coral-based climate records have been used worldwide to generate highresolution reconstructions of past environmental conditions in tropical regions (e.g., Swart & Grottoli 2003; Kilbourne et al. 2004; Saenger et al. 2008; Felis et al. 2015; Hetzinger et al. 2016; LaVigne et al. 2016; Rivera et al. 2018, among others). Reliable environmental reconstructions using Scleractinia coral skeletons requires, however, an understanding how different coral species grow and record environmental information, and how biological and environmental factors affect their growth (Lough & Barnes 1990; Cruz-Piñón et al. 2003). Many factors (e.g., temperature, dissolved nutrients, sedimentation rates, light availability, turbidity, and endogenous reproduction factors) have been pointed in previous works as environmental factors that could influence coral skeleton formation (Cruz-Piñón et al. 2003).

Corals are hypercalcifiers organisms capable of synthesizing large quantities of calcium carbonate to form their aragonite exoskeletons. Their growth patterns alternate between rapid thickening associated with slow extension (increasing skeletal density), and rapid extension with reduced thickening (reducing skeletal density). Those cyclic variations produce banding patterns in the skeletal structure of corals that are visible on x-ray radiographs (Knutson et al. 1972; Buddemeier et al. 1974; Macintyre & Smith 1974; Dodge & Vaisnys, 1975). Corals generally add a high- and low-density band annually (Knutson *et al.* 1972; Dodge & Thompson 1974; Hudson et al. 1976; Wellington & Glynn 1983). Similar to tree rings, coral growth bands can used as a calendar recording environmental events.

The measurement of density bands can reveal information concerning the growth rate and environmental factors that influence and limit coral development (Wellington & Glynn, 1983; Taylor et al., 1993; Lough & Barnes, 1997), such as temperature, dissolved nutrients, sedimentation rates, light availability, turbidity, and reproduction (Weber et al. 1975; Buddemier & Kinzie, 1975; Highsmith, 1979; Dodge & Vaisnys, 1980; Wellington & Glynn, 1983; Cruz-Piñón et al. 2003). However, not all corals produce the well-defined annual bands necessary for accurately evaluating their growth rates and ages.

Corals grow at rates that vary from millimeters to centimeters each year, continuously incorporating geochemical information (isotope and trace element ratios) in their exoskeletons (e.g., Weber & Woodhead 1970; Hart & Cohen 1996; Swart et al. 1996; Böhm et al. 2006; Giry et al. 2010; Saha et al. 2016). Carbon (δ^{13} C) and oxygen (δ^{18} O) isotope ratios have been widely used as proxies for a series of environmental conditions and physiological factors in hermatypic corals (Weber & Woodhead 1970; Weber 1973; Swart 1983; Swart et al. 1996; Grottoli 2001; Cohen & McConnaughey 2003; Swart & Grottoli 2003; Eakin & Grottoli 2006a).

Depending on local conditions, the δ^{18} O signatures incorporated into corals reflect sea surface temperatures (SST) (Fairbanks & Dodge, 1979; McConnaughey, 1989; Pätzold, 1984; Weber & Woodhead, 1970) and sea surface salinity (SSS) (Cole & Fairbanks, 1990). ¹⁸O/¹⁶O ratios change as a function of temperature (Swart 1983), with a proportional inverse correlation between temperature and coral δ^{18} O content; higher temperatures result in low δ^{18} O ratios and lower temperatures result in high δ^{18} O ratios (Weber and Woodhead 1972). Numerous authors have used the δ^{18} O of corals in recent decades to reconstruct paleotemperatures in tropical oceans (e.g., Kuhnert et al. 1999; Felis et al. 2000; Omata et al. 2006).

 δ^{18} O data can also be used as a source of information concerning climatic events, such as the El Niño-Southern Oscillation – ENSO. The oceanic thermal anomalies associated with that event can become recorded in coral skeletons, allowing long-term reconstructions of El-Niño/La Niña events (Cole et al. 1993; Linsley et al. 2010; Soppa et al. 2011). Thermal stress situations can also influence the growth rates of corals (i.e., diminishing their linear extension rates), allowing us to determine if the corals have experienced anomalous climatic conditions (Rivera et al. 2018).

Carbon stable isotopes are still a matter of debate in terms of their application as proxies for climatic conditions due to the complex role of physiology on the control of carbon (Swart 1983). However, numerous workers have reported that annual variations in δ^{13} C in corals are directly related to light incident levels, which ultimately influence photosynthetic activity of symbiont host by corals call zooxanthellae. The lighter isotope (¹²C) is preferentially used by the zooxanthellae during photosynthesis, leaving the calcification site, where coral exoskeleton is formed, enriched in ¹³C and as consequence the aragonite produced has a higher δ^{13} C (Weber & Woodhead 1970; Rodrigues & Fauth 2013).

Therefore, thee δ^{13} C of corals can be used as a proxy for luminosity and cloud cover (Allison et al. 1996) although it is influenced by other factors beyond photosynthesis, such as pH, reproduction, water depth, and respiration (Swart, 1983; Swart et al. 1996). Several workers have shown that decadal- to centennial-scale variation in coral δ^{13} C can be used to track changes in surface dissolved inorganic carbon (DIC) (Swart et al. 2010; Al-Rousan & Felis 2013; Dassié et al. 2013; Pereira et al. 2018) long-term changes in coral δ^{13} C are associated with changes in atmospheric carbon isotopic compositions resulted from fossil fuel burning and known as Suess Effect (Keeling 1979).

As δ^{18} O and δ^{13} C short-term variations are dependent on seasonal environmental variables, C and O stable isotope cycles along the growth axis of coral exoskeletons can be used to evaluate their growth rates.

The western region of the tropical South Atlantic is characterized by a low diversity of coral species but high endemism (Leão et al. 2003, 2010). Many of those species have not been yet evaluated in terms of their potential as natural archives for environmental variables, and few workers are actively investigating them (Mayal et al. 2009; Kikuchi et al. 2013; Evangelista et al. 2015, 2018; Pereira et al. 2018b).

The Brazilian genera of hermatypic corals from the South Atlantic that have been studied to date include: *Porites* (e.g., Pereira et al. 2015, 2017), *Siderastrea* (e.g., Evangelista et al. 2018; Pereira et al. 2018), and *Mussismilia* (e.g. Evangelista et al. 2007; Kikuchi et al. 2013). Of the four species of *Mussismilia* (*M. hispida*, *M. braziliensis*, *M. hartti*, and *M. lepdophylla*), *M. hispida* has the widest geographic distribution, occurring in the states of Maranhão, Rio Grande do Norte, Paraíba, Pernambuco, Alagoas, Sergipe, Bahia, Espírito Santo, Rio de Janeiro, and São Paulo; they are also found on more distant oceanic coral reefs such as the Rocas Atoll and on Fernando de Noronha Island (Leão et al. 2016).

The geographic distribution of *M. hispida* call the attention for the possibility of replicated studies that compare the same species in different regions - which would minimize any particular effects of species variations in relation to the incorporation of geochemical data. Here, we present the first data of δ^{18} O and δ^{13} C records for the species *M. hispida*, and growth rate of that important species in the equatorial South Atlantic.

2. STUDY AREA

The Rocas Atoll is located in the western part of the South Atlantic (3°51'S, 33°49'W), 266 km off the northeastern coast of Brazil (Fig. 1). It is an isolated oceanic atoll in an interesting location that allows corals to grow in a near-pristine environment with distinct oceanic and atmospheric processes.



Figure 1 –Geomorphological map of the Rocas Atoll. The red star indicates the location on a flat reef where *M. hispida* colonies were studied and collected. Adapted from Pereira et al., 2017.

The Rocas Atoll is dominated by the South Equatorial Current (SEC), with a consistent westerly flow (Goes 2005). The mean velocity of the SEC at the 4°S parallel (which crosses Rocas Atoll) is 30 cm/s (Richardson & Walsh 1986). According to Gherardi & Bosence (2001), the tidal regime on the atoll is semi-diurnal and meso-tidal, and grid box salinity within the coordinates of Rocas (33.5W and 3.5S) varies between 35.8 and 36.3 annually (Antonov et al., 2010).

The reef grows on the western part of the flattened top of a submarine volcano (Guyot type) that rises up from depths of 4000 m (Kikuchi & Leão 1997; Pereira et al. 2013). The evolution of this complex reef included colonization of the guyot by coralline algae, scleractinian corals, mollusks, and crustaceans. The accumulation of marine carbonate provided the base for the ellipsoid reef ring now in existence (Gherardi and Bosence 2001). Coral skeletons at the bottom of an 11.69 m drill hole into the carbonate platform of the Rocas Atoll provided a maximum conventional ¹⁴C radiometric age of 4.86 \pm 0.21 ky BP at the depth of 11.2 m (Kikuchi and Leão 1997). That age may not correspond to the beginning of reef development, however, as no basement rock was recovered. Thus, it is assumed that the initiation of reef growth began before 4.86 ka, with a buildup rate of 1.5 to 3.2 m/kyr (Kikuchi and Leão 1997).

3. METHODOLOGY

3.1. Colony collections

Three dead *M. hispida* colonies (13MH-1, 13MH-2 and 13MH-3) were collected on the reef plateau in the southern portion of the Rocas Atoll (Fig. 2). While that species currently shows low representivity in terms of coral cover at the Rocas Atoll, there are expressive numbers of dead *M. hispida* colonies on the southern portion of that atoll (although the causes of that elevated mortality are still unknown). Two subsamples were removed at two locations, MHA (upper portion of the colony) and MHB (the lower portion of the colony) along the growth axis of the lamina of coral 13MH-1 (Fig. 2a) to determine its age using U-Th dating.



Figure 2. 5-mm-thick slices and respective radiographies of colonies 13MH-1 (a), 13MH-2 (b), and 13MH-3 (c). Density bands are not visible in these X-rays. High-resolution carbonate sampling for δ^{18} O and δ^{13} C analyses (red lines) was performed, following a single coralline wall. Two subsamples were collected for U-Th dating (green bars) of colony 13MH-1.

3.2. Sampling for isotopic analyses

The colonies studied were cut into 5-mm-thick slices along the principal growth axis. A slice was selected from each colony to be radiographed at 50 kVA, 320 mA, for 3.2 s, with the distance of 108 cm from the equipment to the coral slice. Micro-sampling was performed using a micro-drill to remove carbonate samples along one of the coralitte walls, with a resolution interval of 0.5 mm (Fig. 2).

3.3. Isotopic analyses of Carbon and Oxygen

Stable isotope ratios of carbon and oxygen were measured at the Federal University of Pernambuco using a Delta V Advantage coupled with a GasBench II device. Sets containing 56 coral samples were analyzed against 16 samples of 4 different standards, 2 international, NBS-18 and NBS-19 and 2 internal, REI and VICKS. The precision of the analysis was assessed by repeated measurements of the

four standard and was better than 0.10‰ for δ^{13} C and δ^{18} O. All coral δ^{13} C and δ^{18} O data are reported in per mill (‰) relative to Vienna Pee Dee Belemnite (VPDB).

3.4. Uranium-thorium (U/Th) dating

U-Th dating was conducted in a class-10.000 metal-free clean room with class-100 benches at the High-Precision Mass Spectrometry and Environment Change Laboratory (HISPEC), Geosciences Department, National Taiwan University (Shen et al., 2008). U-Th isotopic compositions and concentrations were determined on a multicollector inductively-coupled plasma mass spectrometer (MC-ICP-MS) in the HISPEC (Shen et al., 2012). The half-lives of U-Th nuclides used for ²³⁰Th age calculation are given in Cheng et al. (2013). Uncertainties in the U-Th isotopic data and ²³⁰Th dates are calculated at the 2σ level (two standard deviations of the mean, $2\sigma_m$), unless otherwise noted.

3.5. Growth rate

Coral growth rates were determined by measuring the distances (mm) between the peaks of the isotopic cycles of δ^{13} C, or the distances between the valleys of the δ^{18} O cycles, as those cycles are interpreted as being annual. The lengths of the cycles of each colony were used to determine their mean annual growth rates (excluding the first and last cycles of each colony due to uncertainty of whether they represent complete cycles).

The growth rate of colony 13MH-1 was also estimated by U/Th dating, in which the differences between the ages determined (in years) for two points were divided by the distance between them (in mm).

4. **RESULTS**

4.1. Stable isotopes

 δ^{13} C data for the colonies of *M. hispida* varied between -0.38 and 2.40‰, with a mean value of 0.91±0.59‰ for colony 13MH-1, between -2.59 and 3.78‰, with a mean value of 0.40±1.0‰ for colony 13MH-2 and for colony 13MH-3 yielded values between -2.81‰ and 2.67‰, with a mean of 0.57±0.99‰ (Fig. 3).

The δ^{18} O values of colony 13MH-1 varied between -4.27 and -1.32‰, with a mean value of -3.29 ±0.42‰; colony 13MH-2 showed δ^{18} O values between -6.89 and

-1.58%, with a mean of $-4.09\pm1.00\%$; colony 13MH-3 showed values between -6.18 and -1.58%, with a mean of $-4.27\pm1.00\%$ (Fig. 3).

Medium to long-term oscillation on the isotopic record are observed. There was a sequence of isotopic cycles between ~30 and 43 mm in colony 13MH-1 demonstrating low carbon values (Fig. 3). Colony 13MH-3 demonstrated large temporal series of δ^{18} O values between 5 and 30.5 mm (cycle 1) and between 47.5 and 64.5 mm (cycle 2) (Figure 3) that were characterized by low ¹³C contents.

Those anomalous temporal series of δ^{18} O and δ^{13} C values could indicate changes in the conditions of the coral environments, or artifacts reflecting different skeleton structures with different isotopic compositions, such as those identified by DeLong et al. (2013) and will not be discussed in this study, which will focuses on short-term variations.



Figure 3 -Temporal series of δ^{18} O and δ^{13} C values obtained from sections of colonies 13MH11, 13MH-2, and 13MH-3 (the δ^{18} O axis is presented inverted).

4.2. U-Th Dating

The U-Th dating results for the two samples from colony 13MH-1 indicated absolute ages of 61.5 ± 1.1 and 72.7 ± 1.1 years for samples MHA and MHB respectively (Table 1). These values approximately refers to the time interval between 1944 and 1955. The age difference between samples MHA and MHB was 11±2.2 years, equivalent to the age demonstrated by the numbers of annual isotopic cycles (13 for the same exoskeleton section) (Table 2).

Table 1 - Results of the U-Th dating technique using samples removed along the growth axis of the exoskeleton of M. híspida.

Sample ID	Weight g	²³⁸ U ppb ^a	²³² Th ppt	□ ²³⁴ U measured ^a	[²³⁰ Th/ ²³² Th] ppm ^c	Non-corrected age	Corrected age ^d	□ ²³⁴ U _{initial} corrected ^b
MH-A	0.17560	2334.9 ± 2.2	160.5 ± 2.7	147.5 ± 1.7	159.2 ± 3.2	63.06 ± 0.71	61.5 ± 1.1	147.5 ± 1.7
MH-B	0.23862	2187.7 ± 2.1	138.5 ± 2.0	146.4 ± 1.5	203.1 ± 3.6	74.21 0.78	72.7 ± 1.1	146.5 ± 1.5

⁺Analytical errors are $2\square$ of the mean.

 ${}^{a}[{}^{238}U] = [{}^{235}U] \times 137.77 (\pm 0.11\%)$ (Hiess et al., 2012); $\Box^{234}U = ([{}^{234}U/{}^{238}U]_{activity} - 1) \times 1000.$ ${}^{b}\Box^{234}U_{initial}$ corrected was calculated based on the 230 Th age (T), i.e., $\Box^{234}U_{initial} = \Box^{234}U_{measured} X e^{\Box 234^{*}T}$, and T is the corrected age.

 $[^{230}\text{Th}/^{238}\text{U}]_{\text{activity}} = 1 - e^{-\Box 230T} + (\Box^{234}\text{U}_{\text{measured}}/1000)[\Box_{230}/(\Box_{230} - \Box_{234})](1 - e^{-(\Box 230 - \Box 234)T}), \text{ where } T \text{ is the age. Decay constants are } 9.1705 \times 10^{-6} \text{ yr}^{-1} \text{ for } ^{230}\text{Th}, 2.8221 \times 10^{-6} \text{ yr}^{-1} \text{ for } ^{234}\text{U} \text{ (Cheng et al., 2013), and } 1.55125 \times 10^{-10} \text{ yr}^{-1} \text{ for } ^{238}\text{U}$ (Jaffey et al., 1971).

 d The degree of detrital ²³⁰Th contamination is indicated by the [²³⁰Th/²³²Th] atomic ratio instead of the activity ratio. e Age corrections, relative to the chemistry date on 1th, January, 2016 were calculated using an estimated atomic 230 Th/ 232 Th ratio of 4 ± 2 ppm (Shen et al., 2008)

4.3. Growth rate

The mean growth rate of colony 13MH-1 (Table 2), according to the U-Th dating, was 3.57±1.03 mm/year for the section between sample MHA and sample MHB, and 2.96 ± 0.57 mm/year as determined by the stable isotopic cycles for the same section.

Table 2. a Growth rate and calendar ye	ars, calculated from	October/2013. b Mean	1 growth rate,
estimated based on U-series ages for the	total coral record.		

Colony S	Sample ID	Depth range	Age interval	Growth rate	δ ¹³ C	Years
		(mm)	(U-series)	(mm.y ⁻¹)	cycles	(U-series)
13MH-1	MHA/MHB	25 to 65	1944-1955 ^a	$3.57 (\pm 1.03)^{b}$	13	11 (±2.2)

By counting the isotopic cycles presented in the in colonies 13MH-1, 13MH-2, and 13MH-3, it was identified a total of 21, 21 and 20 cycles, respectively. Table 3 shows the mean growth rates as derived from measures of the isotopic cycles of all three colonies. Colony 13MH-1 demonstrated a minimum growth rate of 2.22 mm/year, a maximum of 3.79 mm/year, and a mean of 2.83 ± 0.51 mm/year. Colony 13MH-2 demonstrated a minimum growth rate of 1.96 mm/year, a maximum rate of 4.71 mm/year, and mean of 3.21 ± 0.86 mm/year; colony 13MH-3 demonstrated a minimum growth rate of 2.65 mm/year, a maximum rate of 5.29 mm/year, and a mean of 3.71 ± 0.82 mm/year.

Isotopic Cycle	Extension (mm)					
Isotopic Cycle	13MH-1	13MH-2	13MH-3			
1	-	-	-			
2	2.27	2.54	4.04			
3	2.48	3.42	2.92			
4	2.48	4.59	3.90			
5	2.54	3.22	2.92			
6	2.51	2.66	5.29			
7	2.77	3.75	4.46			
8	3.18	3.54	3.39			
9	3.50	4.71	4.55			
10	2.65	2.22	4.73			
11	2.48	2.70	2.65			
12	2.30	3.79	3.20			
13	2.22	1.97	2.78			
14	2.65	2.34	2.83			
15	3.61	2.13	3.16			
16	2.54	4.31	3.34			
17	3.79	3.22	3.43			
18	3.73	3.14	4.78			
19	3.15	2.46	4.41			
20	2.91	4.31	-			
21	-	-				
Mean	2.83±0.51	3.21±0.86	3.71±0.82			

Table 3 – Growth rates evaluated according to cycle extensions (mm) for coral colonies 13MH-1,13MH-2 and 13MH-3. Values from the first and last cycles were not included.

5. **DISCUSSION**

5.1. Growth rate

The colonies of *M. hispida* analyzed here displayed well-defined annual stable isotopic cycles in most of their records, which could be used to measure their extension rates (which varied from 2.83 to 3.71 mm/year). Colony 13MH-1 growth rates were the most constant among the three colonies (Fig. 4). Coral colonies may present different growth strategies even within the same species living in the same region under similar environmental conditions (Rogers 1979).

Growth rate variations along the life of a coral colony can occur for numerous reasons, including the effects of climatic oscillation events such as the EL Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO) (Dodge & Vaisnys, 1980; Wellington & Glynn, 1983; Cruz-Piñón et al. 2003 among others).

Analyses of the bands of the coral *M. leptophylla* at Abrolhos (off the Brazilian coast) under favorable conditions (abundant light) made by Evangelista et al. (2007), showed that coral growth during ENSO events decreased in contrast to normal conditions in the region due to greater sediment deposition.

Figure 4. Growth rate through time of colonies 13MH-1 (black circle), 13MH-2 (red diamonds), and 13MH-3 (blue triangles).

Other species of the genus *Mussismilia* presented distinct growth rates from the ones reported here. Kikuchi et al. (2013) reported mean growth rate of 9.2 mm/year for a colony of *M. braziliensis*, measured using CoralXDS software (which allows measurements of linear extension, density, and calcification using coral exoskeleton radiographs). Suggett et al. (2012) reported a mean growth rate of ~6 mm/year for three colonies of *M. braziliensis*, and a mean value of ~2 mm/year for three colonies of *M.*

hartti. Leão et al. (2003) reported a mean growth rate of 8 mm/year for *M. braziliensis* (X-ray measurements). All of the abovementioned measurements were obtained from colonies collected at Abrolhos, in Bahia State. Comparisons of those published growth rates with those obtained here, demonstrates that *M. hispida* has a mean growth rate closer to *M. hartti* than to *M. braziliensis*.

Other coral genera from the same region on the Rocas Atoll have likewise been evaluated. Pereira et al. (2017) reported that the growth rate of *Porites astreoides* varied from 6.5 to 13.0 mm/year, with a mean of 8.62 ± 1.82 mm/year. Pereira et al. (2018) reported that different *Siderastrea stellata* colonies had mean growth rates of 2.90, 2.76 and 3.46 mm/year. Evangelista et al. (2018) reported values of 6.01 ± 1.08 mm/year for the same species by counting density bands. Pinheiro et al. (2017) reported a much larger growth rate (6.8 ± 0.7 mm/year) in *S. stellata* using coralXDS software.

Coral species demonstrating high growth rates (between 3-15 mm/year) can provide high resolution climate data, while slow-growing species, such as *Siderastrea radians* (~1.3 mm/year), present more difficulty in interpreting climatic data due to the low resolution of their geochemical records, which could lead to erroneous interpretations (Moses & Swart, 2006). Thus, the colonies of *M. hispida* reported here are suitable for high-resolution climate archive.

5.2. Seasonal isotopic variability and environmental records

Fourier spectral analyses of the δ^{13} C data revealed weak peaks at the frequencies of 3.21 mm and 3.94 mm near the annual growth rates determined for colonies 13MH-1 and 13MH-2 respectively. Period peaks that could be interpreted as annual were not observed in colony 13MH-3. The dominant peaks in δ^{13} C data are at the frequencies of 26.88, 72.55 and 72.38 mm for colonies 13MH-1, 13MH-2 and 13MH-3, respectively, in which, the last two corals (13MH-2 and 13MH-3), the frequencies correspond to the approximately interval of 20 year, whereas colony 13MH-1 has frequency close to 10 years interval.

The δ^{18} O records showed dominant peaks at the frequencies of 26.66, 75.11 and 28.94 for colonies 13MH-1, 13MH-2 and 13MH-3, respectively. Frequencies at interval of approximately 20 years are present at the three colonies studied here and might be tracking interannual long-term trends in SST (table 4).

13MH-1 (δ ¹³ C) Period	13 MH-2 (δ^{13} C)	Period	13MH-3 (δ ¹³ C) Period
mm/wave	Years/wave	mm/wave)	Years/wave	mm/wave)	Years/wave
26.88	9.5	72.55	23.3	72.38	19.5
38.59	13.6	11.95	3.8	1.61	0.4
14.79	5.2	9.24	3.0	0.99	0.3
3.21	1.1	3.94	1.3	1.93	0.5
13MH-1 (δ ¹⁸ O) Period					
13MH-1 (δ ¹⁸ O) Period	13MH-2 (δ ¹⁸ O)	Period	13MH-3 (δ ¹⁸ 0	D) Period
13MH-1 (δ ¹⁸ O mm/wave)) Period Years/wave	13MH-2 (δ ¹⁸ O) mm/wave	Period Years/wave	13MH-3 (δ ¹⁸ 0 mm/wave	D) Period Years/wave
13MH-1 (δ ¹⁸ O mm/wave) 26.66) Period Years/wave 9.4	13MH-2 (δ ¹⁸ O) mm/wave 75.11	Period Years/wave 24.1	13MH-3 (δ ¹⁸ 0 mm/wave 28.94	D) Period Years/wave 7.8
13MH-1 (δ ¹⁸ O mm/wave) 26.66 55.29) Period Years/wave 9.4 19.5	13MH-2 (δ ¹⁸ O) mm/wave 75.11 25.88	Period Years/wave 24.1 8.3	13MH-3 (δ ¹⁸ C mm/wave 28.94 72.38	D) Period Years/wave 7.8 19.5
13MH-1 (δ ¹⁸ O mm/wave) 26.66 55.29 15.66) Period Years/wave 9.4 19.5 5.5	13MH-2 (δ ¹⁸ O) mm/wave 75.11 25.88 9.05	Period Years/wave 24.1 8.3 2.9	13MH-3 (δ ¹⁸ mm/wave 28.94 72.38 21.55	D) Period Years/wave 7.8 19.5 5.8

Table 4. Fourier transformation analyses of the δ^{18} O and δ^{13} C records of colonies 13MH-1, 13MH-2 and 13MH-3.

The median and long-term frequencies observed in the δ^{18} O records of the three colonies could be explained by the equatorial location of the Rocas Atoll, where the climate is characterized by a strong interannual variability compared to seasonal variability. Multiple factors, such as the Intertropical Convergence Zone (ITCZ) and the ocean surface meridional temperature gradient (which is associated with changes in wind direction), influence climatic variability in the tropics (Mélice & Servain, 2003).

6. CONCLUSION

 δ^{18} O and δ^{13} C coral-based records for the species *M. hispida* from the Rocas Atoll revealed time-series dominated by short and long-term variations. The short-term variations were governed by annual seasonality (i.e., SST and solar radiation levels) and could be used to determine the annual extension rates of the three colonies, revealing growth rates varying between 1.99 and 5.29 mm/year, with an overall mean of 3.21 ± 0.87 mm/year – similar to the estimation obtained by using U-Th dating (3.57 ± 1.03 mm/year). Due to its wide geographical distribution, *M. hispida* seems to be an important natural archive which may provide high-resolution climate and environmental records throughout the eastern coast of South America and composite-records using living and fossil colonies at multiple sites might generate longer records to assess climate variability at the tropical Southern Atlantic Ocean.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the Programa de Pós-Graduação em Geociências e Análises de Bacias (PGAB) at the Universidade Federal de Sergipe (UFS), where this research was developed, as well as the Fundação de Apoio à Pesquisa e à Inovação Tecnológica do Estado de Sergipe (FAPITEC-SE) and the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (*CAPES*). N.S. Pereira thanks FAPESB (JBC0045/2016) for its financial support. C-CS thanks support by the Science Vanguard Research Program of the Ministry of Science and Technology (107-2119-M-002-051) and the Higher Education Sprout Project of the Ministry of Education, Taiwan ROC (108L901001).

REFERENCES

- Al-Rousan S, Felis T (2013) Long-term variability in the stable carbon isotopic composition of Porites corals at the northern Gulf of Aqaba, Red Sea. Palaeogeogr Palaeoclimatol Palaeoecol 381–382:1–14
- Allison N, Tudhope AW, Fallick AE (1996) Factors influencing the stable carbon and oxygen isotopic composition of Porites lutea coral skeletons from Phuket, South Thailand. 43–57
- Böhm F, Gussone N, Eisenhauer A, Dullo W-C, Reynaud S, Paytan A (2006) Calcium isotope fractionation in modern scleractinian corals. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 70:4452–4462
- Cohen AL, McConnaughey TA (2003) Geochemical Perspectives on Coral Mineralization.
- Cole JE, Fairbanks RG (1990) The Southern Oscillation recorded in the δ 18O of corals from Tarawa Atoll. Paleoceanography 5:669–683
- Cole JE, Fairbanks RG, Shen GT (1993) Recent variability in the southern oscillation: Isotopic results from a Tarawa Atoll coral. Science (80-) 260:1790–1793
- Cruz-Piñón G, Carricart-Ganivet JP, Espinoza-Avalos J (2003) Monthly skeletal extension rates of the hermatypic corals Montastraea annularis and Montastraea faveolata : biological and environmental controls. Mar Biol 143:491–500
- Dassié E, Lemley G, Linsley B (2013) The Suess effect in Fiji coral δ13C and its potential as a tracer of anthropogenic CO2 uptake. Palaeogeogr Palaeoclimatol Palaeoecol 370:30–40
- DeLong KL, Quinn TM, Taylor FW, Shen C-C, Lin K (2013) Improving coral-base paleoclimate reconstructions by replicating 350years of coral Sr/Ca variations. Palaeogeogr Palaeoclimatol Palaeoecol 373:6–24
- Dunbar RB, Wellington GM, Colgan MW, Glynn PW (1994) Eastern Pacific sea surface temperature since 1600 A.D.: The δ 18 O record of climate variability in

Galápagos Corals. Paleoceanography 9:291-315

- Eakin CM, Grottoli A (2006) Paleo-climate changes and corals. In: Phinney J., Skirving W., Kleypas J., Hoegh-Guldberg O., Strong A.E. (eds) Coral reefs and climate changes. Coastal and Estuarine Studies, pp 33–54
- Evangelista H, Godiva D, Sifeddine A, Leão ZM a. N, Rigozo NR, Segal B, Ambrizzi T, Kampel M, Kikuchi RKP, Le Cornec F (2007) Evidences linking ENSO and coral growth in the Southwestern-South Atlantic. Clim Dyn 29:869–880
- Evangelista H, Sifeddine A, Corrège T, Servain J, Dassié EP, Logato R, Cordeiro RC, Shen C-C, Le Cornec F, Nogueira J, Segal B, Castagna A, Turcq B (2018) Climatic Constraints on Growth Rate and Geochemistry (Sr/Ca and U/Ca) of the Coral *Siderastrea stellata* in the Southwest Equatorial Atlantic (Rocas Atoll, Brazil). Geochemistry, Geophys Geosystems 19:772–786
- Evangelista H, Wainer I, Sifeddine A, Corrège T, Cordeiro RC, Lamounier S, Godiva D, Shen C-C, Le Cornec F, Turcq B, Lazareth CE, Hu C-Y (2015) Southwestern Tropical Atlantic coral growth response to atmospheric circulation changes induced by ozone depletion in Antarctica. Biogeosciences Discuss 12:13193–13213
- Fairbanks RG, Dodge RE (1979) Annual periodicity of the the 18O/16O and 13C/12C and ratios in the coral Montastrea annularis. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 43:1009–1020
- Felis T, Giry C, Scholz D, Lohmann G, Pfeiffer M, Pätzold J, Kölling M, Scheffers SR (2015) Tropical Atlantic temperature seasonality at the end of the last interglacial. Nat Commun 6:6159
- Felis T, Pätzold J, Loya Y, Fine M, Nawar AH, Wefer G (2000) A coral oxygen isotope record from the northern Red Sea documenting NAO, ENSO, and North Pacific teleconnections on Middle East climate variability since the year 1750. Paleoceanography 15:679–694
- Geologia CDEPEM, Cristina M, Santedicola R (1868) UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DA BAHIA INSTITUTO DE GEOCIÊNCIAS DISSERTAÇÃO DE MESTRADO Submetida para satisfação parcial dos requisitos ao grau de MESTRE EM CIÊNCIAS GEOLOGIA à Câmara de Ensino de Pós-Graduação e Pesquisa da Universidade Federal da Bahia.
- Gherardi DFM, Bosence D (2001) Composition and community structure of the coralline algal reefs from Atol das Rocas, South Atlantic, Brazil. Coral Reefs 19:205–219
- Giry C, Felis T, Kölling M, Scheffers S (2010) Geochemistry and skeletal structure of Diploria strigosa, implications for coral-based climate reconstruction. Palaeogeogr Palaeoclimatol Palaeoecol 298:378–387
- Goes CA (2005) Correntes superficiais no Atlântico Tropical, obtidas por dados orbitais, e sua influência na dispersão de larvas de lagosta. INPE
- Grottoli AG (2001) Past climate from corals. In: Steele J., Thorpe K., Turekian K. (eds) Encyclopedia of ocean sciences. Academic Press, London, pp 2098–2107
- Hart SR, Cohen AL (1996) An ion probe study of annual cycles of Sr / Ca and other

trace elements in corals. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 60:3075-3084

- Hetzinger S, Pfeiffer M, Dullo W-C, Zinke J, Garbe-Schönberg D, Dana JD, Kleypas JA, McManus JW, Menez LAB, Brown BE, Glynn PW, Hoegh-Guldberg O, Graham NAJ, Jennings S, MacNeil MA, Mouillot D, Wilson SK, Eakin CM, Rodríguez S, Cróquer A, Bone D, Bastidas C, Chollett I, Bone D, Pérez D, Croquer A, Bone D, Laboy-Nieves EN, Pérez FL, Kilbourne KH, Hetzinger S, Pfeiffer M, Dullo W-C, Garbe-Schönberg D, Halfar J, Giry C, Felis T, Kölling M, Scheffers S, Carilli JE, Charles CD, Garren M, McField M, Norris RD, Moses CS, Swart PK, Dodge RE, Cohen AL, Smith SR, McCartney MS, Etten J van, Watanabe T, Winter A, Oba T, Anzai R, Ishioroshi T, Leder JJ, Swart PK, Szmant AM, Dodge RE, Hetzinger S, Reumont J von, Hetzinger S, Garbe-Schönberg D, Manfrino C, Dullo WC, Mallela J, Hetzinger S, Halfar J, Cantin NE, Oppen MJH, Willis BL, Mieog JC, Negri AP, Trenberth KE, Hetzinger S, Pfeiffer M, Dullo W-C, Ruprecht E, Garbe-Schönberg D, Kelly PM, Jones PD, Pengqun JIA, Sagar N, Cantin NE, Cohen AL, Karnauskas KB, Tarrant AM, McCorkle DC, Lough JM, Cooper TF, Grottoli AG, Allison N, Tudhope AW, Fallick AE, Swart PK, Rodrigues LJ, Grottoli AG, Grottoli AG, Wellington GM, Castillo KD, Ries JB, Weiss JM, Lima FP, Berkelmans R, Oppen MJH van, Baker AC, Starger CJ, McClanahan TR, Glynn PW, Jones A, Berkelmans R, Schrag DP, Villiers S de, Greaves M, Elderfield H, Paillard D, Labeyrie L, Yiou P, Smith TM, Reynolds RW, Peterson TC, Lawrimore J (2016) A change in coral extension rates and stable isotopes after El Niño-induced coral bleaching and regional stress events. Sci Rep 6:32879
- Keeling CD (1979) The Suess effect: 13Carbon-14Carbon interrelations. Environ Int 2:229–300
- Kikuchi RKP, Leão ZMAN (1997) Rocas (Southwestern Equatorial Atlantic, Brazil): An Atoll Built Primarily By Coralline Algae. 731–736
- Kikuchi RKP, Oliveira MDM, Leão ZM a. N (2013) Density banding pattern of the south western Atlantic coral Mussismilia braziliensis. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 449:207–214
- Kilbourne KH, Quinn TM, Taylor FW, Delcroix T, Gouriou Y (2004) El Niño-Southern Oscillation-related salinity variations recorded in the skeletal geochemistry of a Porites coral from Espiritu Santo, Vanuatu. Paleoceanography 19:1–8
- Kuhnert H, Pätzold J, Hatcher B, Wyrwoll K-H, Eisenhauer a., Collins LB, Zhu ZR, Wefer G (1999) A 200-year coral stable oxygen isotope record from a high-latitude reef off Western Australia. Coral Reefs 18:1–12
- LaVigne M, Grottoli AG, Palardy JE, Sherrell RM (2016) Multi-colony calibrations of coral Ba/Ca with a contemporaneous in situ seawater barium record. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 179:203–216
- Leão ZMAN, Kikuchi RKP, Ferreira BP, Neves EG, Sovierzoski HH, Oliveira MDM, Maida M, Correia MD, Johnsson R (2016) Brazilian coral reefs in a period of global change: A synthesis. Brazilian J Oceanogr 64:97–116
- Leão ZMAN, Kikuchi RKP, Oliveira MDM, Vasconcellos V (2010) Status of Eastern Brazilian coral reefs in time of climate changes. Panam J Aquat Sci 5:224–235

Leão ZMAN, Kikuchi RKP, Testa V (2003) Corals and coral reefs of Brazil.

- Linsley BK, Dunbar RB, Wellington GM, Mucciarone DA (1994) A coral-based reconstruction of Intertropical Convergence Zone variability over Central America since 1707. J Geophys Res 99:9977–9994
- Linsley BK, Rosenthal Y, Oppo DW (2010) Holocene evolution of the Indonesian throughflow and the western Pacific warm pool. Nat Geosci 3:578–583
- Lough JM, Barnes DJ (1990) Intra-annual timing of density band formation of Porites coral from the central Great Barrier Reef. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 135:35–57
- Lough JM, Barnes DJ (1997) Several centuries of variation in skeletal extension, density and calcification in massive Porites colonies from the Great Barrier Reef: A proxy for seawater temperature and a background of variability against which to identify unnatural change. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 211:29–67
- Mayal EM, Sial AN, Ferreira VP, Fisner M, Pinheiro BR (2009) Thermal stress assessment using carbon and oxygen isotopes from Scleractinia, Rocas Atoll, northeastern Brazil. 51:166–188
- McConnaughey T (1989) 13C and 18O isotopic disequilibrium in biological carbonates: I. Patterns. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 53:151–162
- Moses CS, Swart PK (2006) Stable isotope and growth records in corals from the island of Tobago : Not simply a record of the Orinoco. 580–587
- Omata T, Suzuki A, Kawahata H, Nojima S, Minoshima K, Hata A (2006) Oxygen and carbon stable isotope systematics in Porites coral near its latitudinal limit: The coral response to low-thermal temperature stress. Glob Planet Change 53:137–146
- Pätzold J (1984) Growth rhythms recorded in stable isotopes and density bands in the reef coral Porites lobata (Cebu, Philippines). Coral Reefs 3:87–90
- Pereira NS, Manso VAV, Macedo RJA, Dias JMA, Silva AMC (2013) Detrital carbonate sedimentation of the Rocas Atoll, South Atlantic. An Acad Bras Cienc 85:57–72
- Pereira NS, Sial AN, Frei R, Ullmann C V, Korte C, Kikuchi RKP, Ferreira VP, Kilbourne KH (2017) The potential of the coral species Porites astreoides as a paleoclimate archive for the Tropical South Atlantic Ocean. J South Am Earth Sci 77:276–285
- Pereira NS, Sial AN, Kikuchi RKP, Ferreira VZP, Ullmann C V., Frei R, Cunha AMC (2015) Coral-based climate records from tropical South Atlantic: 2009/2010 ENSO event in C and O isotopes from Porites corals (Rocas Atoll, Brazil). An Acad Bras Cienc 87:1939–1957
- Pereira NS, Sial AN, Kilbourne KH, Liu S-C, Shen C-C, Ullmann CV, Frei R, Korte C, Kikuchi RKP, Ferreira VP, Braga BLSS (2018a) Carbon stable isotope record in the coral species Siderastrea stellata: A link to the Suess Effect in the tropical South Atlantic Ocean. Palaeogeogr Palaeoclimatol Palaeoecol 497:82–90
- Pereira NS, Sial AN, Kilbourne KH, Liu SC, Shen CC, Ullmann C V., Frei R, Korte C, Kikuchi RKP, Ferreira VP, Braga BLSS (2018b) Carbon stable isotope record in the coral species Siderastrea stellata: A link to the Suess Effect in the tropical

South Atlantic Ocean. Palaeogeogr Palaeoclimatol Palaeoecol 497:82–90

- Richardson PL, Walsh D (1986) Mapping climatological seasonal variations of surface currents in the tropical Atlantic using ship drifts. J Geophys Res 91:10537
- Rivera HE, Lino KC, Lohmann GP, Drenkard EJ, Brainard RE, Alpert AE, Young CW, Cohen AL, Pietro KR, Vargas-Ángel B, Luu VH, Mollica NR, Oliver TA, Barkley HC, DeCarlo TM (2018) Repeat bleaching of a central Pacific coral reef over the past six decades (1960–2016). Commun Biol 1:1–10
- Rodrigues GB, Fauth G (2013) Isótopos estáveis de carbono e oxigênio em ostracodes do Cretáceo: metodologias, aplicações e desafios. Terrae Didat 9:34–49
- Rogers CS (1979) The effect of shading on coral reef structure and function. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 41:269–288
- Saenger C, Cohen AL, Oppo DW, Hubbard D (2008) Interpreting sea surface temperature from strontium/calcium ratios in Montastrea corals: Link with growth rate and implications for proxy reconstructions. Paleoceanography 23:
- Saha N, Webb GE, Zhao JX (2016) Coral skeletal geochemistry as a monitor of inshore water quality. Sci Total Environ 566–567:652–684
- Soppa MA, Souza RB de, Pezzi LP (2011) Variabilidade das anomalias de temperatura da superfície do mar no oceano atlântico sudoeste e sua relação com o fenomeno El Niño-Oscilação Sul. Rev Bras Meteorol 26:375–391
- Swart P (1983a) Carbon and oxygen isotope fractionation in scleractinian corals: a review. Earth-Science Rev 19:51–80
- Swart P, Leder J, Szmant A, Dodge R (1996) The origin of variations in the isotopic record of scleractinian corals: II. Carbon. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 60:2871– 2885
- Swart PK (1983b) Carbon and Oxygen Isotope Fractionation in ScleracUnian Corals : a Review. 19:
- Swart PK, Greer L, Rosenheim BE, Moses CS, Waite AJ, Winter A, Dodge RE, Helmle K (2010) The 13C Suess effect in scleractinian corals mirror changes in the anthropogenic CO2 inventory of the surface oceans. Geophys Res Lett 37:1–5
- Swart PK, Grottoli a. (2003) Proxy indicators of climate in coral skeletons: a perspective. Coral Reefs 22:313–315
- SWART PK, LEDER JJ, SZMANT AM, DODGE RE (1996) The origin of variations in the isotopic record of skeractinian corals : II . Carbon. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 60:2871–2885
- Taylor RB, Barnes DJ, Lough JM (1993) Simple models of density band formation in massive corals. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 167:109–125
- Weber J, Woodhead P (1970a) Carbon and oxygen isotope fractionation in the skeletal carbonate of reef-building corals. Chem Geol 6:93–117
- Weber JN (1973) Incorporation of strontium into reef coral skeletal carbonate. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 37:2173–2190

- Weber JN, Woodhead PMJ (1970b) Carbon and oxygen isotope fractionation in the skeletal carbonate of reef-building corals. Chem Geol 6:93–117
- Weber JN, Woodhead PMJ (1972) Temperature dependence of oxygen-18 concentration in reef coral carbonates. J Geophys Res 77:463–473
- Weber Jonn, Woodhead PMJ (1970c) Carbon and oxygen isotope fractionation in the skeletal carbonate of reef-building corals. 6:93–117
- Wefer G, Berger WH (1991) Isotope paleontology: growth and composition of extant calcareous species. Mar Geol 100:207–248

CAPÍTULO III - CONCLUSÃO

Este estudo trouxe o primeiro registro a respeito da taxa de crescimento, bem como de dados isotópicos de *M. hispida*. A taxa de crescimento para essa espécie mostrou-se menor, comparada com outras espécies do mesmo gênero (*M. braziliensis* e *M. hartti*). Porém, esta taxa de *M. hispida* é suficiente para se obter informações de alta resolução, do ponto de vista para utilização de corais como arquivo climático e permite armazenar uma grande quantidade de informações por comprimento, no entanto, torna-se necessária a calibração de um paleotermômetro para a espécie estudada para consolida-la como arquivo paleoclimático.

O padrão das séries temporais das três colônias mostrou semelhança, como grandes sequências de ~15 mm e quantidade de ciclos ao longo dos 80 mm. A datação de U-Th mostrou coerência com os ciclos isotópicos da 13MH1, o que, demostra a capacidade da espécie *Mussismilia hispida* para estudos com resolução anual, o que permite o entendimento sobre as variações ambientais, por meio de seu amplo registro acerca do local em que cresceu.

Corais apresentam respostas diferentes para cada localidade, o que torna necessário expandir as investigações aqui realizadas para outras regiões do nordeste brasileiro. Sabendo que *M. hispida* integra o grupo das espécies importantes na construção dos recifes da costa brasileira e apresenta grande distribuição, a utilização dessa espécie endêmica e importante para a região, pode tornar seu conteúdo geoquímico uma ferramenta promissora para se reconstruir e compreender as mudanças oceanográficas do oceano Atlântico Sul.

ANEXO I

Normas de submissão da revista Journal of South American Earth Sciences

JOURNAL OF SOUTH AMERICAN EARTH

SCIENCES

EVIER Including Mexico, Central America, The Caribbean and The Antarctic Peninsula

			AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK
TAE	BLE OF CONTENTS		
•	Description Audience Impact Factor Abstracting and Indexing Editorial Board Guide for Authors	p.1 p.1 p.2 p.2 p.3	SOUTH AMERICAN EARTH SCIENCES
			ISSN: 0895-9811

DESCRIPTION

The *Journal of South American Earth Sciences* provides an international medium for the publication of scientific work concerned with all aspects of the **Earth Sciences** in the **South American continent: Mexico to Argentina and adjacent regions of the Caribbean, Central America and Antarctic Peninsula**.

Papers must have a regional appeal and should present work of more than local significance. Research papers dealing with the **regional geology** of South American cratons and mobile belts, within the following research fields: Economic geology, metallogenesis and hydrocarbon genesis and reservoirs Geophysics, geochemistry, volcanology, igneous and metamorphic petrology Tectonics, neo- and seismotectonics and geodynamic modeling Geomorphology, geological hazards and soil research Stratigraphy, sedimentology, structure and basin evolution Paleontology, paleoecology, paleoecligy

New developments in already established regional projects and new initiatives dealing with the geology of the continent will be summarized and presented on a regular basis. Short notes, discussions, book reviews and conference and workshop reports will also be included when relevant.

AUDIENCE

All Geoscientists interested in this area.

IMPACT FACTOR

2017: 1.639 © Clarivate Analytics Journal Citation Reports 2018

ABSTRACTING AND INDEXING

Research Alert SciSearch Current Contents/Physics, Chemical, & Earth Sciences Scopus Petroleum Abstracts GeoRef CAB Abstracts Academic Search (EBSCO) Current Abstracts (EBSCO) **TOC Premier** Engineering Village - GEOBASE OCLC Contents Alert Personal Alert Arts & Humanities Search **Current Contents** Science Citation Index Expanded Web of Science Zoological Record

EDITORIAL BOARD

Editor-in-Chief:

Francisco J Vega, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México (UNAM), Mexico City, Mexico Andrés Folguera, Universidad de Buenos Aires, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Managing Editor

Kerry McCarney-Castle, HDR Engineering, Inc., Charlotte, North Carolina, USA

Regional Editors:

Franck Audemard M., Venezuelan Foundation for, Caracas, Venezuela Reinhardt Fuck, Universidade de Brasilia, Brasilia, Brazil Camilo Montes, Universidad del Norte, Barranquilla, Colombia Victor Ramos, Dept. De Ciencias Geologicas, Universidad de Buenos Aires, Ciudad Universitaria (1428), Buenos Aires, Argentina

Associate Editors:

Susan Beck, University of Arizona, Tucson, Arizona, USA Cesar Casquet, Universidad Complutense de Madrid, Madrid, Spain Graham Evans Suzanne Mahlburg Kay, Cornell University, Ithaca, New York, USA James Kellogg, University of South Carolina, Columbia, South Carolina, USA Hubert Miller, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München (LMU), München, Germany Wouter Pieter Schellart, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands Norman J. Snelling Anthony Tankard, Tankard Enterprises Ltd., Calgary, Alberta, Canada

Founding Editors: Macellari Norman J. Snelling

Technical Support

Journal Manager of Journal of South American Earth Sciences

GUIDE FOR AUTHORS

Your Paper Your Way

We now differentiate between the requirements for new and revised submissions. You may choose to submit your manuscript as a single Word or PDF file to be used in the refereeing process. Only when your paper is at the revision stage, will you be requested to put your paper in to a 'correct format' for acceptance and provide the items required for the publication of your article. To find out more, please visit the Preparation section below.

Submission checklist

You can use this list to carry out a final check of your submission before you send it to the journal for review. Please check the relevant section in this Guide for Authors for more details.

Ensure that the following items are present:

One author has been designated as the corresponding author with contact details:

- E-mail address
- Full postal address

All necessary files have been uploaded:

Manuscript:

- Include keywords
- All figures (include relevant captions)
- All tables (including titles, description, footnotes)
- . Ensure all figure and table citations in the text match the files provided
- Indicate clearly if color should be used for any figures in print

Graphical Abstracts / Highlights files (where applicable) Supplemental files (where applicable)

Further considerations

- Manuscript has been 'spell checked' and 'grammar checked'
- · All references mentioned in the Reference List are cited in the text, and vice versa

· Permission has been obtained for use of copyrighted material from other sources (including the Internet)

· A competing interests statement is provided, even if the authors have no competing interests to declare

· Journal policies detailed in this guide have been reviewed

Referee suggestions and contact details provided, based on journal requirements

For further information, visit our Support Center.

BEFORE YOU BEGIN

Ethics in publishing

Please see our information pages on Ethics in publishing and Ethical guidelines for journal publication.

Declaration of interest

All authors must disclose any financial and personal relationships with other people or organizations that could inappropriately influence (bias) their work. Examples of potential competing interests include employment, consultancies, stock ownership, honoraria, paid expert testimony, patent applications/registrations, and grants or other funding. Authors must disclose any interests in two places: 1. A summary declaration of interest statement in the title page file (if double-blind) or the manuscript file (if single-blind). If there are no interests to declare then please state this: 'Declarations of interest: none'. This summary statement will be ultimately published if the article is accepted. 2. Detailed disclosures as part of a separate Declaration of Interest form, which forms part of the journal's official records. It is important for potential interests to be declared in both places and that the information matches. More information.

Submission declaration and verification

Submission of an article implies that the work described has not been published previously (except in the form of an abstract, a published lecture or academic thesis, see 'Multiple, redundant or concurrent publication' for more information), that it is not under consideration for publication elsewhere, that its publication is approved by all authors and tacitly or explicitly by the responsible authorities where the work was carried out, and that, if accepted, it will not be published elsewhere in the same form, in English or in any other language, including electronically without the written consent of the copyrightholder. To verify originality, your article may be checked by the originality detection service Crossref Similarity Check.

Preprints

Please note that preprints can be shared anywhere at any time, in line with Elsevier's sharing policy. Sharing your preprints e.g. on a preprint server will not count as prior publication (see 'Multiple, redundant or concurrent publication' for more information).

Use of inclusive language

Inclusive language acknowledges diversity, conveys respect to all people, is sensitive to differences, and promotes equal opportunities. Articles should make no assumptions about the beliefs or commitments of any reader, should contain nothing which might imply that one individual is superior to another on the grounds of race, sex, culture or any other characteristic, and should use inclusive language throughout. Authors should ensure that writing is free from bias, for instance by using 'he or she', 'his/her' instead of 'he' or 'his', and by making use of job titles that are free of stereotyping (e.g. 'chairperson' instead of 'chairman' and 'flight attendant' instead of 'stewardess').

Changes to authorship

Authors are expected to consider carefully the list and order of authors **before** submitting their manuscript and provide the definitive list of authors at the time of the original submission. Any addition, deletion or rearrangement of author names in the authorship list should be made only **before** the manuscript has been accepted and only if approved by the journal Editor. To request such a change, the Editor must receive the following from the **corresponding author**: (a) the reason for the change in author list and (b) written confirmation (e-mail, letter) from all authors that they agree with the addition, removal or rearrangement. In the case of addition or removal of authors, this includes confirmation from the author being added or removed.

Only in exceptional circumstances will the Editor consider the addition, deletion or rearrangement of authors **after** the manuscript has been accepted. While the Editor considers the request, publication of the manuscript will be suspended. If the manuscript has already been published in an online issue, any requests approved by the Editor will result in a corrigendum.

Article transfer service

This journal is part of our Article Transfer Service. This means that if the Editor feels your article is more suitable in one of our other participating journals, then you may be asked to consider transferring the article to one of those. If you agree, your article will be transferred automatically on your behalf with no need to reformat. Please note that your article will be reviewed again by the new journal. More information.

Copyright

Upon acceptance of an article, authors will be asked to complete a 'Journal Publishing Agreement' (see more information on this). An e-mail will be sent to the corresponding author confirming receipt of the manuscript together with a 'Journal Publishing Agreement' form or a link to the online version of this agreement.

Subscribers may reproduce tables of contents or prepare lists of articles including abstracts for internal circulation within their institutions. Permission of the Publisher is required for resale or distribution outside the institution and for all other derivative works, including compilations and translations. If excerpts from other copyrighted works are included, the author(s) must obtain written permission from the copyright owners and credit the source(s) in the article. Elsevier has preprinted forms for use by authors in these cases.

For gold open access articles: Upon acceptance of an article, authors will be asked to complete an 'Exclusive License Agreement' (more information). Permitted third party reuse of gold open access articles is determined by the author's choice of user license.

Author rights

As an author you (or your employer or institution) have certain rights to reuse your work. More information.

Elsevier supports responsible sharing Find out how you can share your research published in Elsevier journals.

Role of the funding source

You are requested to identify who provided financial support for the conduct of the research and/or preparation of the article and to briefly describe the role of the sponsor(s), if any, in study design; in the collection, analysis and interpretation of data; in the writing of the report; and in the decision to submit the article for publication. If the funding source(s) had no such involvement then this should be stated.

Funding body agreements and policies

Elsevier has established a number of agreements with funding bodies which allow authors to comply with their funder's open access policies. Some funding bodies will reimburse the author for the gold open access publication fee. Details of existing agreements are available online.

Open access

This journal offers authors a choice in publishing their research:

Subscription

 Articles are made available to subscribers as well as developing countries and patient groups through our universal access programs.

No open access publication fee payable by authors.

• The Author is entitled to post the accepted manuscript in their institution's repository and make this public after an embargo period (known as green Open Access). The published journal article cannot be shared publicly, for example on ResearchGate or Academia.edu, to ensure the sustainability of peer-reviewed research in journal publications. The embargo period for this journal can be found below. **Gold open access**

• Articles are freely available to both subscribers and the wider public with permitted reuse.

• A gold open access publication fee is payable by authors or on their behalf, e.g. by their research funder or institution.

Regardless of how you choose to publish your article, the journal will apply the same peer review criteria and acceptance standards.

For gold open access articles, permitted third party (re)use is defined by the following Creative Commons user licenses:

Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY)

Lets others distribute and copy the article, create extracts, abstracts, and other revised versions, adaptations or derivative works of or from an article (such as a translation), include in a collective work (such as an anthology), text or data mine the article, even for commercial purposes, as long as they credit the author(s), do not represent the author as endorsing their adaptation of the article, and do not modify the article in such a way as to damage the author's honor or reputation.

Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs (CC BY-NC-ND)

For non-commercial purposes, lets others distribute and copy the article, and to include in a collective work (such as an anthology), as long as they credit the author(s) and provided they do not alter or modify the article.

The gold open access publication fee for this journal is **USD 2500**, excluding taxes. Learn more about Elsevier's pricing policy: https://www.elsevier.com/openaccesspricing.

Green open access

Authors can share their research in a variety of different ways and Elsevier has a number of green open access options available. We recommend authors see our open access page for further information. Authors can also self-archive their manuscripts immediately and enable public access from their institution's repository after an embargo period. This is the version that has been accepted for publication and which typically includes author-incorporated changes suggested during submission, peer review and in editor-author communications. Embargo period: For subscription articles, an appropriate amount of time is needed for journals to deliver value to subscribing customers before an article becomes freely available to the public. This is the embargo period and it begins from the date the article is formally published online in its final and fully citable form. Find out more.

This journal has an embargo period of 24 months.

Elsevier Researcher Academy

Researcher Academy is a free e-learning platform designed to support early and mid-career researchers throughout their research journey. The "Learn" environment at Researcher Academy offers several interactive modules, webinars, downloadable guides and resources to guide you through the process of writing for research and going through peer review. Feel free to use these free resources to improve your submission and navigate the publication process with ease.

Language (usage and editing services)

Please write your text in good English (American or British usage is accepted, but not a mixture of these). Authors who feel their English language manuscript may require editing to eliminate possible grammatical or spelling errors and to conform to correct scientific English may wish to use the English Language Editing service available from Elsevier's WebShop.

Submission

Our online submission system guides you stepwise through the process of entering your article details and uploading your files. The system converts your article files to a single PDF file used in the peer-review process. Editable files (e.g., Word, LaTeX) are required to typeset your article for final publication. All correspondence, including notification of the Editor's decision and requests for revision, is sent by e-mail.

Submit your article

Please submit your article via https://www.evise.com/profile/api/navigate/SAMES

PREPARATION

Paper length

The maximum number of words per article is 19,000.

NEW SUBMISSIONS

Submission to this journal proceeds totally online and you will be guided stepwise through the creation and uploading of your files. The system automatically converts your files to a single PDF file, which is used in the peer-review process.

As part of the Your Paper Your Way service, you may choose to submit your manuscript as a single file to be used in the refereeing process. This can be a PDF file or a Word document, in any format or layout that can be used by referees to evaluate your manuscript. It should contain high enough quality figures for refereeing. If you prefer to do so, you may still provide all or some of the source files at the initial submission. Please note that individual figure files larger than 10 MB must be uploaded separately.

References

There are no strict requirements on reference formatting at submission. References can be in any style or format as long as the style is consistent. Where applicable, author(s) name(s), journal title/ book title, chapter title/article title, year of publication, volume number/book chapter and the article number or pagination must be present. Use of DOI is highly encouraged. The reference style used by the journal will be applied to the accepted article by Elsevier at the proof stage. Note that missing data will be highlighted at proof stage for the author to correct.

Formatting requirements

There are no strict formatting requirements but all manuscripts must contain the essential elements needed to convey your manuscript, for example Abstract, Keywords, Introduction, Materials and Methods, Results, Conclusions, Artwork and Tables with Captions. If your article includes any Videos and/or other Supplementary material, this should be included in

If your article includes any Videos and/or other Supplementary material, this should be included in your initial submission for peer review purposes. Divide the article into clearly defined sections.

Figures and tables embedded in text

Please ensure the figures and the tables included in the single file are placed next to the relevant text in the manuscript, rather than at the bottom or the top of the file. The corresponding caption should be placed directly below the figure or table.

Peer review

This journal operates a single blind review process. All contributions will be initially assessed by the editor for suitability for the journal. Papers deemed suitable are then typically sent to a minimum of two independent expert reviewers to assess the scientific quality of the paper. The Editor is responsible for the final decision regarding acceptance or rejection of articles. The Editor's decision is final. More information on types of peer review.

REVISED SUBMISSIONS

Use of word processing software

Regardless of the file format of the original submission, at revision you must provide us with an editable file of the entire article. Keep the layout of the text as simple as possible. Most formatting codes will be removed and replaced on processing the article. The electronic text should be prepared in a way very similar to that of conventional manuscripts (see also the Guide to Publishing with Elsevier). See also the section on Electronic artwork.

To avoid unnecessary errors you are strongly advised to use the 'spell-check' and 'grammar-check' functions of your word processor.

LaTeX

You are recommended to use the Elsevier article class elsarticle.cls to prepare your manuscript and BibTeX to generate your bibliography.

Our LaTeX site has detailed submission instructions, templates and other information.

Article structure

Subdivision - numbered sections

Divide your article into clearly defined and numbered sections. Subsections should be numbered 1.1 (then 1.1.1, 1.1.2, ...), 1.2, etc. (the abstract is not included in section numbering). Use this numbering also for internal cross-referencing: do not just refer to 'the text'. Any subsection may be given a brief heading. Each heading should appear on its own separate line.

Introduction

State the objectives of the work and provide an adequate background, avoiding a detailed literature survey or a summary of the results.

Material and methods

Provide sufficient details to allow the work to be reproduced by an independent researcher. Methods that are already published should be summarized, and indicated by a reference. If quoting directly from a previously published method, use quotation marks and also cite the source. Any modifications to existing methods should also be described.

Theory/calculation

A Theory section should extend, not repeat, the background to the article already dealt with in the Introduction and lay the foundation for further work. In contrast, a Calculation section represents a practical development from a theoretical basis.

Results

Results should be clear and concise.

Discussion

This should explore the significance of the results of the work, not repeat them. A combined Results and Discussion section is often appropriate. Avoid extensive citations and discussion of published literature.

Conclusions

The main conclusions of the study may be presented in a short Conclusions section, which may stand alone or form a subsection of a Discussion or Results and Discussion section.

Appendices

If there is more than one appendix, they should be identified as A, B, etc. Formulae and equations in appendices should be given separate numbering: Eq. (A.1), Eq. (A.2), etc.; in a subsequent appendix, Eq. (B.1) and so on. Similarly for tables and figures: Table A.1; Fig. A.1, etc.

Essential title page information

• **Title.** Concise and informative. Titles are often used in information-retrieval systems. Avoid abbreviations and formulae where possible.

• Author names and affiliations. Please clearly indicate the given name(s) and family name(s) of each author and check that all names are accurately spelled. You can add your name between parentheses in your own script behind the English transliteration. Present the authors' affiliation addresses (where the actual work was done) below the names. Indicate all affiliations with a lower-case superscript letter immediately after the author's name and in front of the appropriate address. Provide the full postal address of each affiliation, including the country name and, if available, the e-mail address of each author.

• Corresponding author. Clearly indicate who will handle correspondence at all stages of refereeing and publication, also post-publication. This responsibility includes answering any future queries about Methodology and Materials. Ensure that the e-mail address is given and that contact details are kept up to date by the corresponding author.

• **Present/permanent address.** If an author has moved since the work described in the article was done, or was visiting at the time, a 'Present address' (or 'Permanent address') may be indicated as a footnote to that author's name. The address at which the author actually did the work must be retained as the main, affiliation address. Superscript Arabic numerals are used for such footnotes.

Abstract

A concise and factual abstract is required. The abstract should state briefly the purpose of the research, the principal results and major conclusions. An abstract is often presented separately from the article, so it must be able to stand alone. For this reason, References should be avoided, but if essential, then cite the author(s) and year(s). Also, non-standard or uncommon abbreviations should be avoided, but if essential they must be defined at their first mention in the abstract itself.

Graphical abstract

Although a graphical abstract is optional, its use is encouraged as it draws more attention to the online article. The graphical abstract should summarize the contents of the article in a concise, pictorial form designed to capture the attention of a wide readership. Graphical abstracts should be submitted as a separate file in the online submission system. Image size: Please provide an image with a minimum of 531×1328 pixels (h × w) or proportionally more. The image should be readable at a size of 5×13 cm using a regular screen resolution of 96 dpi. Preferred file types: TIFF, EPS, PDF or MS Office files. You can view Example Graphical Abstracts on our information site.

Authors can make use of Elsevier's Illustration Services to ensure the best presentation of their images and in accordance with all technical requirements.

Highlights

Highlights are mandatory for this journal. They consist of a short collection of bullet points that convey the core findings of the article and should be submitted in a separate editable file in the online submission system. Please use 'Highlights' in the file name and include 3 to 5 bullet points (maximum 85 characters, including spaces, per bullet point). You can view example Highlights on our information site.

Keywords

Immediately after the abstract, provide a maximum of 6 keywords, using American spelling and avoiding general and plural terms and multiple concepts (avoid, for example, 'and', 'of'). Be sparing with abbreviations: only abbreviations firmly established in the field may be eligible. These keywords will be used for indexing purposes.

Abbreviations

Define abbreviations that are not standard in this field in a footnote to be placed on the first page of the article. Such abbreviations that are unavoidable in the abstract must be defined at their first mention there, as well as in the footnote. Ensure consistency of abbreviations throughout the article.

Acknowledgements

Collate acknowledgements in a separate section at the end of the article before the references and do not, therefore, include them on the title page, as a footnote to the title or otherwise. List here those individuals who provided help during the research (e.g., providing language help, writing assistance or proof reading the article, etc.).

Formatting of funding sources

List funding sources in this standard way to facilitate compliance to funder's requirements:

Funding: This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health [grant numbers xxxx, yyyy]; the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, Seattle, WA [grant number zzzz]; and the United States Institutes of Peace [grant number aaaa].

It is not necessary to include detailed descriptions on the program or type of grants and awards. When funding is from a block grant or other resources available to a university, college, or other research institution, submit the name of the institute or organization that provided the funding.

If no funding has been provided for the research, please include the following sentence:

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

Units

Follow internationally accepted rules and conventions: use the international system of units (SI). If other units are mentioned, please give their equivalent in SI.

Math formulae

Please submit math equations as editable text and not as images. Present simple formulae in line with normal text where possible and use the solidus (/) instead of a horizontal line for small fractional terms, e.g., X/Y. In principle, variables are to be presented in italics. Powers of e are often more conveniently denoted by exp. Number consecutively any equations that have to be displayed separately from the text (if referred to explicitly in the text).

Footnotes

Footnotes should be used sparingly. Number them consecutively throughout the article. Many word processors build footnotes into the text, and this feature may be used. Should this not be the case, indicate the position of footnotes in the text and present the footnotes themselves separately at the end of the article.

Electronic artwork

General points

- Make sure you use uniform lettering and sizing of your original artwork.
- Preferred fonts: Arial (or Helvetica), Times New Roman (or Times), Symbol, Courier.
 Number the illustrations according to their sequence in the text.

- Use a logical naming convention for your artwork files.
 Indicate per figure if it is a single, 1.5 or 2-column fitting image.

· For Word submissions only, you may still provide figures and their captions, and tables within a single file at the revision stage.

• Please note that individual figure files larger than 10 MB must be provided in separate source files. A detailed guide on electronic artwork is available.

You are urged to visit this site; some excerpts from the detailed information are given here. Formats

Regardless of the application used, when your electronic artwork is finalized, please 'save as' or convert the images to one of the following formats (note the resolution requirements for line drawings, halftones, and line/halftone combinations given below):

EPS (or PDF): Vector drawings. Embed the font or save the text as 'graphics'.

TIFF (or JPG): Color or grayscale photographs (halftones): always use a minimum of 300 dpi.

TIFF (or JPG): Bitmapped line drawings: use a minimum of 1000 dpi.

TIFF (or JPG): Combinations bitmapped line/half-tone (color or grayscale): a minimum of 500 dpi is required.

Please do not:

• Supply files that are optimized for screen use (e.g., GIF, BMP, PICT, WPG); the resolution is too low.

- Supply files that are too low in resolution.
- Submit graphics that are disproportionately large for the content.

Color artwork

Please make sure that artwork files are in an acceptable format (TIFF (or JPEG), EPS (or PDF), or MS Office files) and with the correct resolution. If, together with your accepted article, you submit usable color figures then Elsevier will ensure, at no additional charge, that these figures will appear in color online (e.g., ScienceDirect and other sites) regardless of whether or not these illustrations are reproduced in color in the printed version. For color reproduction in print, you will receive information regarding the costs from Elsevier after receipt of your accepted article. Please indicate your preference for color: in print or online only. Further information on the preparation of electronic artwork.

Figure captions

Ensure that each illustration has a caption. A caption should comprise a brief title (**not** on the figure itself) and a description of the illustration. Keep text in the illustrations themselves to a minimum but explain all symbols and abbreviations used.

Tables

Please submit tables as editable text and not as images. Tables can be placed either next to the relevant text in the article, or on separate page(s) at the end. Number tables consecutively in accordance with their appearance in the text and place any table notes below the table body. Be sparing in the use of tables and ensure that the data presented in them do not duplicate results described elsewhere in the article. Please avoid using vertical rules and shading in table cells.

References

Citation in text

Please ensure that every reference cited in the text is also present in the reference list (and vice versa). Any references cited in the abstract must be given in full. Unpublished results and personal communications are not recommended in the reference list, but may be mentioned in the text. If these references are included in the reference list they should follow the standard reference style of the journal and should include a substitution of the publication date with either 'Unpublished results' or 'Personal communication'. Citation of a reference as 'in press' implies that the item has been accepted for publication.

Web references

As a minimum, the full URL should be given and the date when the reference was last accessed. Any further information, if known (DOI, author names, dates, reference to a source publication, etc.), should also be given. Web references can be listed separately (e.g., after the reference list) under a different heading if desired, or can be included in the reference list.

Data references

This journal encourages you to cite underlying or relevant datasets in your manuscript by citing them in your text and including a data reference in your Reference List. Data references should include the following elements: author name(s), dataset title, data repository, version (where available), year, and global persistent identifier. Add [dataset] immediately before the reference so we can properly identify it as a data reference. The [dataset] identifier will not appear in your published article.

References in a special issue

Please ensure that the words 'this issue' are added to any references in the list (and any citations in the text) to other articles in the same Special Issue.

Reference management software

Most Elsevier journals have their reference template available in many of the most popular reference management software products. These include all products that support Citation Style Language styles, such as Mendeley. Using citation plug-ins from these products, authors only need to select the appropriate journal template when preparing their article, after which citations and bibliographies will be automatically formatted in the journal's style. If no template is yet available for this journal, please follow the format of the sample references and citations as shown in this Guide. If you use reference management software, please ensure that you remove all field codes before submitting the electronic manuscript. More information on how to remove field codes from different reference management software.

Users of Mendeley Desktop can easily install the reference style for this journal by clicking the following link:

http://open.mendeley.com/use-citation-style/journal-of-south-american-earth-sciences

When preparing your manuscript, you will then be able to select this style using the Mendeley plugins for Microsoft Word or LibreOffice.

Reference Formatting

There are no strict requirements on reference formatting at submission. References can be in any style or format as long as the style is consistent. Where applicable, author(s) name(s), journal title/book title, chapter title/article title, year of publication, volume number/book chapter and the pagination must be present. Use of DOI is highly encouraged. The reference style used by the journal will be applied to the accepted article by Elsevier at the proof stage. Note that missing data will be highlighted at proof stage for the author to correct. If you do wish to format the references yourself they should be arranged according to the following examples:

[dataset] Oguro, M., Imahiro, S., Saito, S., Nakashizuka, T., 2015. Mortality data for Japanese oak wilt disease and surrounding forest compositions. Mendeley Data, v1. http://dx.doi.org/10.17632/ xwj98nb39r.1.

Reference style

All publications cited in the text should be presented in a list of references following the text of the manuscript. In the text refer to the author's name (without initials) and year of publication (e.g. "Since Condie (2001) has shown that..." or "This is in agreement with results obtained later (Meert, 2003; Burrett and Berry, 2000)."

For three or more authors use the first author followed by "et al.", in the text. The list of references should be arranged alphabetically by authors' names. The manuscript should be carefully checked to ensure that the spelling of authors' names and dates are exactly the same in the text as in the reference list.

References should be given in the following form:

Kusky, T.M., Stern, R.J., Tucker, R.D., 2003. Evolution of East African and related orogens, and the assembly of Gondwana. Precambrian Research, 123, 81–85. Pili, E., Sheppard, S.M.F., Lardeaux, J.M., 1999. Fluid–rock interaction in the granulites of Madagascar

Pili, E., Sheppard, S.M.F., Lardeaux, J.M., 1999. Fluid–rock interaction in the granulites of Madagascar and lithospheric transfer of fluids. Gondwana Research, 2, 341–350.

Suzuki, K., Adachi, M., 1992. Middle Precambrian detrital monazite and zircon from Hida gneiss in Oki-Dogo island, Japan: their origin and implications for the correlation of basement gneiss of Southwest Japan and Korea. Tectonophysics, 235, 277–292.

Touret, J.L.R., 1985. Fluid regime in southern Norway, the record of fluid inclusions. In: Tobi, A.C., Touret, J.L.R. (Eds.), The Deep Proterozoic Crust in the North Atlantic Provinces. Reidel, Dordrecht, 517–549.

Kinny, P. D., Collins, A. S., Razakamanana, T., 2004. Provenance hints and age constraints of metasedimentary gneisses of Southern Madagascar from SHRIMP U–Pb zircon data. In: Chetty, T.R.K. and Bhaskar Rao, Y.J. (Eds.), International Field Workshop on the Southern Granulite Terrane. National Geophysical Research Institute, Hyderabad, India, 97–98.

Rogers, J.J.W. and Santosh, M., 2004. Continents and Supercontinents. Oxford University Press, New York. Li, Z.X., Metcalfe, I., Powell, C.M. (Eds.), 1996. Breakup of Rodinia and Gondwanaland and Assembly of Asia. Australian Journal of Earth Sciences 43.

Albee, H.F., Cullins, H.L., 1975. Geologic map of the Alpine Quadrangle, Bonneville County, Idaho, and Lincoln County Wyoming. United States Geological Survey Geologic Quadrangle Map GQ-1259, scale 1:24,000.

Sajeev, K., 2003. Evolution and metamorphic zoning of Highland Complex, Sri Lanka: a comparison with Madurai Block, southern India. Ph.D. thesis, Okayama University.

Video

Elsevier accepts video material and animation sequences to support and enhance your scientific research. Authors who have video or animation files that they wish to submit with their article are strongly encouraged to include links to these within the body of the article. This can be done in the same way as a figure or table by referring to the video or animation content and noting in the body text where it should be placed. All submitted files should be properly labeled so that they directly relate to the video file's content. In order to ensure that your video or animation material is directly usable, please provide the file in one of our recommended file formats with a preferred maximum size of 150 MB per file, 1 GB in total. Video and animation files supplied will be published online in the electronic version of your article in Elsevier Web products, including ScienceDirect. Please supply 'stills' with your files: you can choose any frame from the video or animation or make a separate image. These will be used instructions please visit our video instruction pages. Note: since video and animation cannot be embedded in the print version of the journal, please provide text for both the electronic and the print version for the portions of the article that refer to this content.

Data visualization

Include interactive data visualizations in your publication and let your readers interact and engage more closely with your research. Follow the instructions here to find out about available data visualization options and how to include them with your article.

Supplementary material

Supplementary material such as applications, images and sound clips, can be published with your article to enhance it. Submitted supplementary items are published exactly as they are received (Excel or PowerPoint files will appear as such online). Please submit your material together with the article and supply a concise, descriptive caption for each supplementary file. If you wish to make changes to supplementary material during any stage of the process, please make sure to provide an updated file. Do not annotate any corrections on a previous version. Please switch off the 'Track Changes' option in Microsoft Office files as these will appear in the published version.

Research data

This journal requires and enables you to share data that supports your research publication where appropriate, and enables you to interlink the data with your published articles. Research data refers to the results of observations or experimentation that validate research findings. To facilitate reproducibility and data reuse, this journal also encourages you to share your software, code, models, algorithms, protocols, methods and other useful materials related to the project.

Below are a number of ways in which you can associate data with your article or make a statement about the availability of your data when submitting your manuscript. When sharing data in one of these ways, you are expected to cite the data in your manuscript and reference list. Please refer to the "References" section for more information about data citation. For more information on depositing, sharing and using research data and other relevant research materials, visit the research data page.

Data linking

If you have made your research data available in a data repository, you can link your article directly to the dataset. Elsevier collaborates with a number of repositories to link articles on ScienceDirect with relevant repositories, giving readers access to underlying data that gives them a better understanding of the research described.

There are different ways to link your datasets to your article. When available, you can directly link your dataset to your article by providing the relevant information in the submission system. For more information, visit the database linking page.

For supported data repositories a repository banner will automatically appear next to your published article on ScienceDirect.

In addition, you can link to relevant data or entities through identifiers within the text of your manuscript, using the following format: Database: xxxx (e.g., TAIR: AT1G01020; CCDC: 734053; PDB: 1XFN).

Mendeley Data

This journal supports Mendeley Data, enabling you to deposit any research data (including raw and processed data, video, code, software, algorithms, protocols, and methods) associated with your manuscript in a free-to-use, open access repository. During the submission process, after uploading your manuscript, you will have the opportunity to upload your relevant datasets directly to *Mendeley Data*. The datasets will be listed and directly accessible to readers next to your published article online.

For more information, visit the Mendeley Data for journals page.

Data in Brief

You have the option of converting any or all parts of your supplementary or additional raw data into one or multiple data articles, a new kind of article that houses and describes your data. Data articles ensure that your data is actively reviewed, curated, formatted, indexed, given a DOI and publicly available to all upon publication. You are encouraged to submit your article for *Data in Brief* as an additional item directly alongside the revised version of your manuscript. If your research article is accepted, your data article will automatically be transferred over to *Data in Brief* where it will be editorially reviewed and published in the open access data journal, *Data in Brief*. Please note an open access fee of 500 USD is payable for publication in *Data in Brief*. Full details can be found on the Data in Brief website. Please use this template to write your Data in Brief.

MethodsX

You have the option of converting relevant protocols and methods into one or multiple MethodsX articles, a new kind of article that describes the details of customized research methods. Many researchers spend a significant amount of time on developing methods to fit their specific needs or

setting, but often without getting credit for this part of their work. MethodsX, an open access journal, now publishes this information in order to make it searchable, peer reviewed, citable and reproducible. Authors are encouraged to submit their MethodsX article as an additional item directly alongside the revised version of their manuscript. If your research article is accepted, your methods article will automatically be transferred over to MethodsX where it will be editorially reviewed. Please note an open access fee is payable for publication in MethodsX. Full details can be found on the MethodsX website. Please use this template to prepare your MethodsX article.

Data statement

To foster transparency, we require you to state the availability of your data in your submission if your data is unavailable to access or unsuitable to post. This may also be a requirement of your funding body or institution. You will have the opportunity to provide a data statement during the submission process. The statement will appear with your published article on ScienceDirect. For more information, visit the Data Statement page.

AFTER ACCEPTANCE

Online proof correction

Corresponding authors will receive an e-mail with a link to our online proofing system, allowing annotation and correction of proofs online. The environment is similar to MS Word: in addition to editing text, you can also comment on figures/tables and answer questions from the Copy Editor. Web-based proofing provides a faster and less error-prone process by allowing you to directly type your corrections, eliminating the potential introduction of errors.

If preferred, you can still choose to annotate and upload your edits on the PDF version. All instructions for proofing will be given in the e-mail we send to authors, including alternative methods to the online version and PDF.

We will do everything possible to get your article published quickly and accurately. Please use this proof only for checking the typesetting, editing, completeness and correctness of the text, tables and figures. Significant changes to the article as accepted for publication will only be considered at this stage with permission from the Editor. It is important to ensure that all corrections are sent back to us in one communication. Please check carefully before replying, as inclusion of any subsequent corrections cannot be guaranteed. Proofreading is solely your responsibility.

Offprints

The corresponding author will, at no cost, receive a customized Share Link providing 50 days free access to the final published version of the article on ScienceDirect. The Share Link can be used for sharing the article via any communication channel, including email and social media. For an extra charge, paper offprints can be ordered via the offprint order form which is sent once the article is accepted for publication. Both corresponding and co-authors may order offprints at any time via Elsevier's Webshop. Corresponding authors who have published their article gold open access do not receive a Share Link as their final published version of the article is available open access on ScienceDirect and can be shared through the article DOI link.

AUTHOR INQUIRIES

Visit the Elsevier Support Center to find the answers you need. Here you will find everything from Frequently Asked Questions to ways to get in touch.

You can also check the status of your submitted article or find out when your accepted article will be published.

© Copyright 2018 Elsevier | https://www.elsevier.com

ANEXO II

Comprovante de submissão do artigo

Manuscript Details

Manuscript number	SAMES_2019_220
Title	Assessing the growth rate of the South Atlantic coral species Mussismilia hispida (VERRILL, 1902) using carbon and oxygen stable isotopes
Article type	Research Paper

Abstract

Scleractinian corals grow by the precipitation of CaCO3 by a thin tissue layer at the top of the colony. The exoskeleton resulted from this biomineralization process usually presented density bands, which a pair of low and high-density is interpreted as annual bands. Such information is used to determine the growth rate of a colony and estimate chronology in calendar year. Nevertheless, some corals do not present density bands, making difficult to constrain a good chronology and assess growth rate pattern, demanding another approach. Carbon and oxygen stable isotope ratios (δ13C and δ18O) are commonly used as proxies for cloud cover and sea surface temperature (SST), respectively. Thus, once these proxies have annual seasonality, the length and number of δ13C and δ18O cycles can be used to estimate growth rate and dating a coral record. Here we used δ 13C and δ 18O length cycles to estimate and report the growth rates data for three colonies of the coral Mussismilia hispida (VERRILL, 1902), an endemic species of the South Atlantic Ocean. The studied colonies, 13MH-1, 13MH-2, and 13MH-3, demonstrated mean growth rates of 2.83±0.51, 3.21±0.86 and 3.71±0.82 mm/year respectively. U-Th dating of two samples from colony 13MH-1 indicated absolute ages of 61.5 ± 1.1 and 72.7 ±1.1 calendar years and a mean growth rate of 3.57±1.03 mm/year, similarly to the stable isotope results. Our results showed that the δ18O and δ13C records of M. hispida colonies at the Rocas Atoll are dominated by short and medium-term variations. The short-term variation seems to be governed by annual seasonality (i.e., SST and solar radiation levels) and were used to determine the extension rates of the three colonies, providing know insights for the use of the species M. hispida, a widely distributed species in the South Atlantic, as a good high-resolution environmental record.

Keywords	Isotopic geochemistry; Hermatypic corals; Paleoclimatology.	
Taxonomy	Elemental Geochemistry, Radiogenic Isotope Geochemistry	
Corresponding Author	Natan Pereira	
Corresponding Author's Institution	State University of Bahia	
Order of Authors	Isabel Silva, Alexandre Liparini, Natan Pereira, Brenda Braga, Alcides Sial, Sze- Chieh Liu, Chuan-Chou Shen, Ruy Kikuchi	
Suggested reviewers	Peter Swart, Thomas Felis, Heitor Evangelista, Saber Al-Rousan	

Submission Files Included in this PDF

File Name [File Type]

Cover letter.doc [Cover Letter]

Highlights.doc [Highlights]

Cris_et_al_2019.docx [Manuscript File]

To view all the submission files, including those not included in the PDF, click on the manuscript title on your EVISE Homepage, then click 'Download zip file'.

ANEXO III

Justificativa de coautorias

Em acordo à resolução 01/2018 do colegiado do PGAB, segue a justificativa da participação dos coautores nos artigos aqui propostos (outros autores além do aluno do programa, seu orientador e coorientador):

Brenda Lorena Soares da Silva Braga: a coautora contribuiu no tratamento e interpretação dos dados, edição de figuras e discussões.

Alcides Nobrega Sial: o coautor contribuiu com o apoio para a realização das análises geoquímicas, parte crucial deste estudo, uma vez que sem esta analise não seria possível chegar aos resultados e assim alcançar os objetivos.

Ruy Kenji Papa de Kikuchi: o coautor contribuiu com o equipamento necessário e com o auxílio para a realização das amostragens das colônias, além do seu riquíssimo domínio sobre a área de estudo e o conteúdo dessa pesquisa, o que foi de extrema importância, pois favoreceu para uma melhor construção deste trabalho.

Chuan-Chou Shen e Liu Sze-Chieh: os coautores contribuíram com a realização da datação de Urânio-Tório U/Th bem como com a interpretação destes dados, o que corroborou de forma significativa com este estudo, uma vez que por meio deste método obtivemos a idade precisa da espécie estudada, possibilitando um melhor esclarecimento dos resultados obtidos, além de contribuírem na elaboração do texto.

	MH1		MH2		MH3	
Distância (mm)	$\delta^{13}C_{cor} \boldsymbol{\textup{Mo}}_{(VPDB)}$	$\delta^{18}O_{cor} \mathscr{W}_{(VPDB)}$	$\delta^{13}C_{cor} \hspace{15cm} \not\hspace{15cm} \hspace{15cm} \hspace{-15cm} $	$\delta^{18}O_{cor} \hspace{5mm} \not\hspace{5mm} \hspace{5mm} \hspace{-mmm} \hspace{5mm} \hspace{5mm} \hspace{5mm} \hspace{-1mm} \hspace{5mm} \hspace{-mm} \hspace{5mm} \hspace{5mm} \hspace{5mm} \hspace{5mm} \hspace{5mm}$	$\delta^{13}C_{cor} \hspace{5mm} \not\hspace{.5mm} \hspace{.5mm} _{(VPDB)}$	$\delta^{18}O_{cor} \rlap{model{model}{\scale}}{}_{(VPDB)}$
0,5	0,82	-2,98	1,07	-2,14	1,23	-3,58
1	1,03	-3,06	1,11	-1,69	2,09	-1,74
1,5	1,21	-2,18	1,02	-2,22	2,07	-2,59
2	0,81	-3,32	0,97	-2,35	0,99	-3,16
2,5	0,62	-3,31	1,62	-3,08	2,53	-1,58
3	1,47	-3,20	2,00	-2,30	1,92	-2,30
3,5	1,38	-3,09	1,28	-3,12	1,36	-2,67
4	1,23	-3,19			0,13	
4,5	0,95	-3,21	1,69	-3,38		
5	1,69	-2,49	-0,27	-3,49	1,38	-3,00
5,5	2,04	-2,98	2,64	-1,57	0,77	-3,38
6	0,55	-3,37				
6,5	0,64	-3,43	0,68	-3,84	2,16	-1,70
7	0,06	-3,54	0,01	-3,95	0,27	-3,51
7,5	0,33	-3,50	0,83	-4,33	0,83	-4,18
8	0,54	-3,28	0,14	-3,78	0,06	-4,04
8,5	0,61	-3,49			0,72	-3,96
9	0,55	-3,64			1,15	-4,02
9,5	0,57	-3,51	0,81	-3,50	0,67	-3,54
10	0,92	-3,09	0,57	-4,12	1,27	-3,68
10,5	1,30	-2,48	-0,65	-4,82	-0,08	-4,58
11	0,23	-3,63	-0,58	-4,21	2,62	
11,5	0,68	-3,08	-0,64	-4,40	-2,61	
12	0,82	-3,17	-0,43	-4,58	1,09	-3,98
12,5	0,46	-3,14	-0,50	-4,60	1,44	-3,97
13	1,45	-2,90	0,78	-3,29	1,55	-4,20
13,5	0,81	-3,58	3,78		0,13	-5,48
14	0,95	-3,25			0,82	-4,76
14,5	0,74	-3,47	0,38	-4,58	1,15	-4,18

APÊNDICE A - Resultados das análises de isótopos estáveis de C e O nas colônias de M. hispida.

15	0,64	-3,55	0,29	-4,45	1,01	-5,60
15,5	1,19	-3,26			0,80	-5,44
16	0,52	-3,74	1,23	-3,49	2,67	
16,5	0,54	-3,50	-0,15	-4,27	0,55	-5,59
17	0,63	-3,56	0,35	-3,92	0,46	-5,27
17,5	0,77	-3,79	-0,24	-4,55	-0,84	-5,31
18	1,59	-3,09	1,38	-4,15	1,01	-4,35
18,5	1,33	-3,17	0,83	-5,00	-0,59	-5,39
19	0,41	-3,49	1,43	-4,42	1,05	-3,98
19,5	0,51	-3,43	-0,13	-4,25	-1,25	-3,26
20	0,23	-3,70	0,08	-4,16	1,37	-4,13
20,5	0,54	-3,24	0,99	-4,72	0,96	-4,75
21	1,15	-3,22	-0,09	-3,99	0,45	-4,04
21,5	0,84	-3,35	0,32	-5,06	0,48	-4,25
22	0,24	-4,08	1,15	-3,30	1,05	-5,06
22,5	1,31	-2,97	-0,66	-4,92	0,84	-4,36
23	0,57	-3,71	-0,68	-4,92	0,38	-4,48
23,5	1,13	-3,47	-1,07	-4,83	0,93	-4,18
24	1,08	-3,23	-0,44	-5,18	1,39	-3,49
24,5	1,69	-2,95			0,11	-5,17
25	1,71	-3,06	-0,24	-4,41	0,62	-4,07
25,5	1,23	-3,05	-0,62	-4,72	1,09	-4,10
26	1,27	-3,64	0,38	-3,92	0,58	-4,11
26,5	0,51	-3,47	-0,15	-3,93	1,45	-3,89
27	1,75	-3,03	-0,81		0,53	-3,98
27,5	1,88	-2,92	-0,79	-5,41	0,37	-3,86
28	1,15	-3,02	-0,54	-4,58	0,35	-4,03
28,5	1,92	-2,80	2,03		-0,24	-3,77
29	0,41	-3,51	-0,52	-3,83	1,45	
29,5	0,95	-2,85	1,52		0,44	-3,20
30	1,20	-3,00	0,98	-3,09	1,48	-2,71
30,5	0,77	-3,13	1,03	-3,12	-0,19	-3,57
31	0,06	-3,05	-0,92	-5,58	1,69	-2,73

31,5	0,27	-3,52	-1,16	-4,99	-0,06	-3,63
32	0,55	-4,14	-1,43	-5,32	2,00	-3,81
32,5	0,42	-3,81	-0,62	,	0,40	-3,92
33	0,00	-4,18	-0,94	-5,53	-0,67	-4,41
33,5	0,74	-4,18	-2,59	,	0,74	-4,00
34	0,23	-4,27	-2,16	-6,59	0,63	-4,02
34,5	0,41	-3,91	-1,10	-5,48	0,97	-3,00
35	0,05	-4,11	-0,77	-5,82	0,34	-4,79
35,5	0,74	-3,35	-1,52	-5,35	0,70	-4,18
36	-0,16	-4,04	-0,39	-5,46	-0,31	-3,83
36,5	-0,38	-3,90	-1,49	-6,19	-1,23	-5,04
37	1,07	-3,14	-1,07	-6,81	1,47	-4,15
37,5	-0,09	-3,87	0,93	-3,89	-1,54	-5,92
38	-0,09	-3,79	-0,45	-4,92	-2,25	-5,98
38,5	-0,07	-3,65	1,00	-5,17	-1,18	-6,16
39	-0,23	-3,62	-0,52	-6,89	-0,50	-5,64
39,5	0,33	-3,53	-1,77		-0,07	-5,43
40	0,66	-3,94	1,28	-4,09	1,21	-5,56
40,5	0,98	-3,33	-0,91	-5,43	-0,21	-6,18
41	1,52	-3,41	1,65	-3,72	-0,05	-5,97
41,5	0,92	-3,52	0,47	-4,12	0,56	-5,83
42	0,88	-3,40	0,31	-4,63	0,11	-6,09
42,5	0,84	-3,56			0,61	-5,99
43	1,20	-3,06	-0,37	-6,15	0,36	-5,46
43,5	1,18	-3,55	-1,62	-6,34	0,43	-5,26
44	1,33	-3,44	-0,62	-5,60	0,50	-5,58
44,5	0,96	-3,45			1,57	-4,58
45	0,00	-3,51	-1,51	-5,40	0,45	-5,70
45,5	1,31	-3,05	-1,37	-4,78	-0,28	-5,07
46	1,64	-3,06	-0,55	-4,28	-0,28	-4,98
46,5	2,40	-2,57	-1,15	-4,47	0,81	-5,52
47	1,41	-2,89	-0,13	-3,72	0,40	-4,84
47,5	1,71	-3,04	-0,23	-3,45	0,23	-4,73

48	1,71	-3,02	0,10	-2,70	1,24	-3,78
48,5	1,73	-3,09	0,04	-3,16	-1,32	-5,67
49	0,70	-3,10	-1,27	-4,72	1,65	-4,22
49,5	1,13	-3,14	0,18	-5,33		
50	1,59	-3,00	0,77	-2,14	0,91	-4,93
50,5	1,73	-3,42	0,94	-3,47	0,44	-5,03
51	1,63	-2,80	0,72	-3,12	0,78	-4,10
51,5	1,27	-2,76	-0,05	-4,28	-2,74	-5,92
52	1,38	-2,99	0,59	-2,97	-0,02	-4,69
52,5	1,75	-1,32	0,67	-4,74	0,37	-4,71
53	0,95	-3,83	0,29	-3,32	1,37	-3,85
53,5	1,76	-2,85	0,21	-5,20	0,33	-4,44
54	2,24	-2,47	0,66		-0,79	-4,99
54,5	1,52	-3,00	0,47	-3,89	0,94	-4,38
55	1,77	-3,06	0,32		0,64	-4,21
55,5	1,09	-3,12	-0,43	-4,59	-0,03	-4,41
56	1,47	-3,14	0,29	-3,55	0,59	-3,98
56,5	2,12	-2,67			1,24	-3,24
57	1,16	-3,05	1,25	-3,39	0,70	-3,23
57,5	1,97	-2,83			0,39	-4,00
58	1,21	-3,02	2,30	-3,85	0,93	-3,03
58,5	0,65	-3,23	0,77	-4,46	-0,09	-3,74
59	0,93	-3,42	1,00	-3,94	1,08	-3,76
59,5	1,48	-2,90	1,17	-3,81	0,30	-3,43
60	0,69	-3,19	1,15	-4,25	-2,81	
60,5	0,37	-2,99	1,33	-3,57	2,12	-5,02
61	0,39	-3,25	1,53	-3,58	2,33	-2,18
61,5	0,61	-3,27	1,54	-3,14	0,63	-3,05
62	0,51	-3,51	1,61	-3,62	0,88	-4,31
62,5	0,32	-3,45	0,49	-4,42	2,53	-2,30
63	0,30	-3,51	0,64	-4,49	-0,19	-4,02
63,5	0,32	-3,65	0,42	-4,24	1,43	-3,31
64	0,25	-3,26	-0,16	-5,95	1,25	-4,30

64,5	0,08	-3,51	2,17	-2,14	1,79	-2,91
65	0,04	-3,45	1,38	-4,16	1,29	-3,26
65,5			1,76	-3,45	1,71	-2,98
66			0,50	-3,82	0,47	-3,83
66,5			0,59	-4,02	2,35	-2,88
67			0,20	-4,47	1,58	-3,46
67,5			2,32	-2,55	1,07	-3,50
68			2,40	-2,04	0,11	-3,88
68,5			2,39	-3,82		
69			-0,11	-4,11		
69,5						
70			0,28	-4,99		
70,5			0,98	-4,08		
71			0,42	-4,89		
71,5			0,22	-4,34		
72			0,14	-4,29		
72,5			1,42	-1,58		
73			1,37	-3,51		
73,5			2,09	-2,56		
74			0,44	-3,44		
74,5			0,79	-2,93	0,17	-4,61
75			1,94	-2,06	-0,23	-4,89
75,5			1,34	-3,08	0,47	-5,84
76			1,49	-2,98	0,40	-3,18
76,5			2,16	-2,99	0,20	-5,39
77			2,64	-2,92	0,40	-5,35
77,5			2,47	-3,53	0,48	-6,17
78			0,81	-4,00	0,03	-5,32
78,5			0,80	-4,41	-0,94	-5,43
79			-0,01	-3,28	-0,21	-4,24
79,5					-0,34	-4,38
80					-0,86	-5,05